

Master Thesis

Electrical Transport in Reconfigurable Transistors Based on the Heterogeneous Integration of Germanium on a Silicon on Insulator Platform

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

at Technische Universität Wien Institute of Solid State Electronics

under supervision of Univ.Prof. Dipl.Ing. Univ. Dr.-Ing. Walter Michael Weber and Univ.Ass. Dipl.-Ing. Dr.techn. Masiar Sistani, BSc

> by Axel Verdianu, BSc. Student ID 51833042

Vienna, January 2024



Statutory Declaration

I declare, that I have authored the present work independently according to the code of conduct, that I have not used other than the declared sources and that I have explicitly marked all material quoted either literally or by content from the used sources. This work was not yet submitted to any examination procedure neither in Austria, nor in any other country.

Erklärung zur Verfassung der Arbeit

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass die vorliegende Arbeit gemäß dem Code of Conduct – Regeln zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis – ohne unzulässige Hilfe Dritter und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel, angefertigt wurde. Die aus anderen Quellen direkt oder indirekt übernommenen Daten und Konzepte sind unter Angabe der Quelle gekennzeichnet. Die Arbeit wurde bisher weder im In- noch im Ausland in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form in anderen Prüfungsverfahren vorgelegt.

Vienna, January 2024

Axel Verdianu

.....

Abstract

Driven by Moore's Law, the demand for ever more transistors on integrated circuits has surged to power our digital age. This principle predicts the doubling of transistors approximately every two years, propelling technological advancements. As we approach the physical limits of traditional scaling, beyond CMOS technologies and innovative material systems emerge as essential pathways. Their adoption ensures sustained growth, meeting the insatiable computational needs of the future. One approach based on functional diversification is the novel device concept of a doping free reconfigurable field-effect transistor (RFET). These stand out by their ability to dynamically switch between n-type and p-type operation during runtime, hence increasing the functional density of the circuit. Since both operation types are united in one single RFET device, typical channel width variations for p- and n-type in order to achieve similar on-state currents are not possible. The desired symmetry and other crucial device characteristics need to be engineered by the underlying material-system. Considering this, the influence on the electrical behavior of an RFET fabricated out of a pure germanium (Ge) layer on top of either a strained or unstrained silicon wafer stack, exerting different amounts of stress on the channel, are investigated in this thesis. Furthermore, the effect of different gate dielectrics, consisting of pure silicon dioxide (SiO₂) or a combination of SiO₂ and zirconium dioxide (ZrO₂), are considered. The respective transistors are fabricated in a top-down fashion out of a Ge on a silicon on insulator (SOI) or Ge on strained silicon on insulator (sSOI) initial wafer, which takes advantage of the electrical properties of Ge like the high charge carrier mobility and small band-gap, while by passing the difficult and expensive Ge on insulator technology. The required metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructures, in the case of this thesis, the aluminum-Ge-aluminum heterostructure, are formed by thermally activated aluminum (Al) diffusion into the Ge nanosheet, resulting in reproducible, reliable and abrupt transitions. In order to form the SiO₂ passivation, a pure silicon (Si) capping layer atop of the Ge layer is dry thermally oxidized, while the ZrO_2 high-k dielectric is fabricated by atomic layer deposition (ALD). In this thesis four different types of transistors with an increasing number of top-gates are fabricated. The realized RFETs with either two or three independent top-gates, or Schottky barrier field-effect transistor (SBFET) with one single top-gate are electrically characterized. By extensive temperature dependent bias spectroscopy, important properties of the transistors and underlying material system are determined and compared to other RFETs found in literature. Moreover, the performance of single transistor wired logic consisting of RFETs with four top-gates are analyzed. The goal of this thesis was the realization of Ge based RFETs, which offer enhanced electrical properties considering the Si counterparts. Thereby relatively higher on-state currents of the respective modi and sufficient on-state symmetries were achieved. With the addition of ZrO_2 to the gate stack, improvements regarding the On/Off ratio and subthreshold slope were obtained. The material system and RFET structures presented in this thesis highlight the potential for energy-efficient and adaptive circuits in application areas such as hardware security and artificial intelligence.

Kurzfassung

Angetrieben durch die stetig ansteigende Nachfrage nach immer mehr Rechenleistung in integrierten Schaltkreisen, sagt das Mooresche Gesetz die Verdopplung der Transistordichte alle zwei Jahre voraus. Da wir uns jedoch den physikalischen Grenzen der traditionellen Skalierung nähern, gewinnen neuartige Technologien und innovative Materialsysteme immer mehr an Bedeutung. Ein auf funktionaler Diversifizierung basierender Ansatz ist das neuartige Transistorkonzept eines dopingfreien, rekonfigurierbaren Feldeffekttransistors (RFET). Diese zeichnen sich dadurch aus, dass sie während der Laufzeit dynamisch zwischen n- und p-Typ umschalten können, wodurch die Funktionsdichte der Schaltung erhöht wird. Da beide Betriebsarten in einem einzigen RFET-Bauelement vereint sind, müssen gewünschte Stromsymmetrien und andere Transistoreigenschaften durch das zugrundeliegende Materialsystem realisiert werden. Angesichts dessen wird in dieser Arbeit der Einfluss auf das elektrische Verhalten eines RFET untersucht, der aus einer reinen Germanium (Ge)-Schicht auf einer zugverspannten oder unverspannten Silizium-Schicht hergestellt wurde. Darüber hinaus werden die Auswirkungen verschiedener Gate-Dielektrika, bestehend aus reinem Siliziumdioxid (SiO_2) oder einer Kombination aus SiO_2 und Zirkondioxid (ZrO_2) , betrachtet. Die entsprechenden Transistoren werden in einem Top-Down Prozess entweder aus einem Ge auf silicon on insulator (SOI)- oder Ge auf strained silicon on insulator (sSOI)-Ausgangswafer hergestellt, wodurch die elektrischen Eigenschaften von Ge, wie die hohe Ladungsträgerbeweglichkeit und die kleine Bandlücke genutzt werden, während die schwierige und kostspielige Ge on insulator Technologie umgangen wird. Die erforderlichen Metall-Halbleiter-Metall-Heterostrukturen, in diesem Fall die Aluminium-Ge-Aluminium-Heterostrukturen, werden durch thermisch aktivierte Aluminium diffusion gebildet, was zu reproduzierbaren, zuverlässigen und abrupten Übergängen führt. Zur Bildung der SiO₂-Passivierung wird eine Opferschicht aus reinem Silizium (Si) über der Ge-Schicht thermisch oxidiert, während das high-k Dielektrikum ZrO₂ durch Atomlagenabscheidung hergestellt wird. In dieser Arbeit werden vier verschiedene Typen von Transistoren mit einer zunehmenden Anzahl an Top-Gates hergestellt. Die hergestellten RFETs, mit entweder zwei oder drei unabhängigen Top-Gates oder Schottky-Barriere-Feldeffekttransistoren (SBFET) mit einem einzigen Top-Gate, werden durch umfangreiche temperaturabhängige elektrische Charakterisierung wichtige Eigenschaften der Transistoren und des zugrundeliegenden Materialsystems bestimmt sowie mit anderen RFETs aus der Literatur verglichen. Darüberhinaus werden die Schalteigenschaften von Logikschaltungen, bestehend aus einem einzelnen RFET mit vier Top-Gates, analysiert. Ziel dieser Arbeit war die Realisierung von Ge-RFETs, welche verbesserte elektrische Eigenschaften zu Si-RFETs aufweisen. Dabei wurden verhältnismäßig höhere Ströme und verbesserte Ein-Zustands-Symmetrien erreicht. Durch das Hinzufügen von ZrO_2 zum Gate-Stapel konnten Verbesserungen hinsichtlich des Ein- zu Aus-Zustands Verhältnisses und der Unterschwellenstrom-Steigung erzielt werden. Das in dieser Arbeit vorgestellte Materialsystem und die RFET-Strukturen zeigen das Potenzial für energieeffiziente und adaptive Schaltungen in Bereichen wie Hardwaresicherheit und künstliche Intelligenz auf.

Acknowledgement

In this page, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude and appreciation to the individuals whose unwavering support, guidance, and encouragement have played a pivotal role in the successful completion of my studies.

Walter M. Weber

My supervisor, for his advise and suggestions forming this thesis. Even after hours of discussions during our group meetings he would still take his time and give me the support I needed. Thank you!

Masiar Sistani

My second supervisor for his daily support and motivation, his interesting discussions and ideas, his support during the device fabrication and electrical characterization along with his ability to create an exciting, welcoming and inclusive working environment. I wish you much success for your future career and hope you stay true to your own values!

Andreas Fuchsberger

A special thanks goes to Andreas for his relentless support, not only during the device fabrication and electrical characterization but also as friend during this thrilling time. Without you as my seatmate the time at the institute would have been only half as fun -Keep the good stories coming!

Lukas Wind, Daniele Nazzari, Dominik Mayr and Alois Lugstein

I would also like to thank Lukas for his countless hours in the clean room and support during the device fabrication. Without you, this work would not have been possible! Special thanks also goes to Daniele and Dominik for the fabrication of the ZrO_2 dielectric layers as well as to Alois for the proof reading of the thesis at hand.

Emerging Nanoelectronic Devices Group

Thank you all for the inspiring experience and funny lunch breaks! Thereby a special thanks goes to **Raphael Behrle** and **Franko Kekez**.

The FKE and ZMNS, for the provided cleanroom and measurement facilities.

My Family

I am deeply grateful to my family for their unwavering support and love throughout this journey - *Tack* and *Spasibo*! Especially my sister's encouragement and belief in me have been the driving force thru my academic endeavor. Thanks for the healthy competition, **Ika**!

My Friends

I owe a tremendous debt of gratitude to my friends for their enduring support and invaluable guidance. At this point I would especially like to thank **Firni**, **Tobias**, **Vogi** and everyone from **WG Ferdi**!

Last but not least, I would like to thank **Kathi** for her extraordinary support and understanding during this rather stressful phase of my life. Team *Kaxi*!

I would like to devote this thesis to my grandmother, Brigitta, who sadly passed away during the writing of this work. *Farewell Oma!*



Contents

1	Introduction			
2	The	ory		5
	2.1	Materi	als	5
		2.1.1	Germanium	5
			2.1.1.1 Comparison to Silicon	6
		2.1.2	Dielectrics	7
			2.1.2.1 Silicon Oxides Vs. Germanium Oxides	7
			2.1.2.2 High-k Dielectrics	8
	2.2	Germa	nium Rich Layers on Insulators	10
	2.3	Metal-	Semiconductor Heterostructure	11
		2.3.1	Metal-Semiconductor: Contact Formation	15
	2.4	Recont	figurable Field-Effect Transistor (RFET)	16
		2.4.1	Advantages of RFETs	17
		2.4.2	RFET Architecture	18
		2.4.3	Electrical Transport Mechanism	21
3	Exp	erimer	ntal Techniques	25
	3.1	Fabric	ation of Germanium Based RFETs	25
		3.1.1	Strained and Unstrained Silicon on Insulator Base-Substrate	26
		3.1.2	Fabrication Steps: From Nanosheet to Top-Gates	27
			3.1.2.1 Nanosheet Patterning	28
			3.1.2.2 Gate Stack Formation	29
			3.1.2.3 Source and Drain Deposition	30
			3.1.2.4 Metal-Semiconductor Junction Formation	30
			3.1.2.5 Top-Gate Metal Deposition	31
	3.2	Electri	cal Characterization	32
		3.2.1	Measurement Setup	33
			3.2.1.1 Measurement Settings	34



			3.2.1.2 Bias Direction and Symmetry	35
		3.2.2	Key Aspects of RFETs	35
		3.2.3	Transfer Characteristic	37
		3.2.4	Output Characteristic	37
		3.2.5	Polarity-Gate Spectroscopy	38
		3.2.6	Multi Control-Gate Measurements	38
		3.2.7	Effective Schottky-Barrier Height	38
		3.2.8	Effective Activation Energy	39
		3.2.9	Device Evaluation	39
4	Res	ults ar	nd Discussion	43
	4.1	Fabric	ated Devices	43
		4.1.1	Al-Si-Ge Heterostructure	46
4.2 Project Evolution				47
		4.2.1	Electrical Influence of a ${\rm SiO}_2$ and ${\rm ZrO}_2$ Gate Dielectric $\ .$	50
		4.2.2	Influence of Strain on the Electrical Characteristic	50
	4.3	Ge on	Strained Silicon on Insulator (GesSOI) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	51
		4.3.1	Electrical Transport of Ge based SBFETs	52
		4.3.2	Electrical Characteristics of Dual-Top-Gate RFETs	58
		4.3.3	Electrical Transport in Three-Gated Ge RFETs	63
		4.3.4	Electrical Characteristics of Multi-Gate RFETs	68
		4.3.5	Comparison of Transfer Characteristics	71
5	Sun	nmary	and Outlook	75
Li	st of	Figure	es	79
\mathbf{Li}	st of	Table	5	80
B	ibliog	graphy		82

Chapter 1

Introduction

The experimental invention of the transistor by J. Bardeen, W. Brattain, and W. Shockley in 1947 marked a pivotal moment in technological history, laying the foundation for the digital revolution that has transformed our daily lives and reshaped society [1, 2]. From the pocket-sized smartphones we depend on to the global networks that connect us, the profound impact of transistors is felt in every corner of our interconnected world. The increasing role of semiconductors in global technology has elevated their strategic importance in geopolitical affairs, not only leading to competition but also tensions between nations [3–5]. Moore's Law, which predicts the doubling of transistors on a chip approximately every 24 months, has motivated this influence by driving rapid technological advancements and intensifying the global race for semiconductor dominance [6, 7]. Even though the first transistors were made out of germanium (Ge), silicon (Si) transistors quickly established afterwards, mainly due to its high quality native oxide, silicon dioxide (SiO_2) , in metal-oxide-semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFET) [8]. Furthermore, Si has a higher band-gap than Ge, enabling lower off-state currents and higher operating temperatures. A further reduction in power consumption was achieved by the introduction of complimentary metal-oxide-semiconductor (CMOS), consisting of, as the name suggests, complimentary n- and p- metal-oxide-semiconductors (n/p-MOS) [9]. However, different charge carrier mobilities lead to disparate on-state currents of the complimentary devices. In order to overcome this flaw, the two counterparts are geometrically asymmetric, resulting in symmetric on-state currents. Following Moore's law by continuous down scaling of the related transistor dimensions inevitability leads to fundamental scaling limits, noticeable by higher leakage currents due to increasing tunneling charge carriers through the thinner oxide layers [10-12].

In order to overcome these scaling limits, novel device concepts comprising new material combinations, like the integration of high-k dielectrics in combination with SiO_2 , and high charge carrier mobility semiconductors like Ge, need to be considered. So-called "Beyond

CMOS" concepts focus on the functional diversification of devices, thereby leading to the desired increase in functional density. Reconfigurable field-effect transistors (RFETs) are one emerging device concept, enabling dynamic switching between p- and n-mode during runtime, thus making it an interesting candidate for future applications in the field of adaptive or neuromorphic computing and hardware security [13–17]. Based on Schottky barrier field-effect transistors (SBFETs), tunnel field-effect transistors (TFETs) and junction-less transistors, the RFET offers a channel doping free alternative to the aforementioned device concepts [13, 18, 19]. Additionally, since both operation types are combined in one single device, the geometric symmetry is inherently given while the on-state current symmetry is determined by the material system itself. The respective operation mode is electrically determined by the applied voltage, effectively controlling the Schottky barriers and band bending.

Based on the preceding, in this thesis the aforementioned novel device concept, the RFET, is realized with Ge as semiconductor material and aluminum (Al) as contact metal, resulting in a Al-Si-Ge-Si-Al multi-heterostructure with abrupt transitions [20]. The fabricated RFET structures are electrically characterized and evaluated in terms of their device performance in both p- and n-type mode. Thereby the electric behavior of RFETs with different top-gate arrangements, possessing two, three or four individual top-gates, placed over the metal-semiconductor junction or channel region, are investigated. In addition, SBFETs with one single top-gate, overlapping both metal-semiconductor junctions and the channel area, are characterized. Furthermore, the influence on the electrical performance of two base-substrates, exerting different amounts of stress on the Ge channel layer, is analyzed. Moreover, beside SiO₂ as gate dielectric, the device behavior with an additional high-k dielectric layer, like zirconium dioxide (ZrO_2), was investigated. The used top-down fabrication approach enables wafer-scaled processing, which is favorable in today's semiconductor industry [15].

The chosen Al-Ge channel material aims to achieve RFET devices with high on-state currents with good symmetries along with low off-state currents. This design enables energy efficiency, dynamic mode switching and adaptive circuits. Furthermore, it's fabricated using established processes and without doping, making it a strong contender for modern transistor applications [21, 22].

The questions that emerge and will be explored in this thesis are whether the chosen Ge material system, composed of the underlying silicon on insulator (SOI) or strained silicon on insulator (sSOI) substrate, is suitable for RFET applications and how high-k dielectrics influence the device behavior. Moreover, the device performance in comparison to other existing RFETs based on Ge and Si is of interest.

The thesis at hand is divided into four main chapters: theory, experimental techniques, results and a summary followed by a short outlook. Thereby, Chapter 2 introduces the used materials, the metal-semiconductor junction along with the RFET concept. Chapter 3 outlines the used fabrication processes and introduces various electrical characterization

methods, enabling a detailed investigation of the obtained structures. Chapter 4 discusses the measurement results based on the techniques described earlier and puts the measured RFET parameters into perspective by a comparison to other RFETs presented in literature. Chapter 5 concludes with a summary of the findings and gives an outlook for future research on the material system and device structure.



Chapter 2

Theory

This chapter provides a piecewise introduction of the building blocks composing the physical properties of the RFET, culminating in a presentation of the RFET concept itself. Starting with the first piece comprising the materials forming the RFET channel and corresponding gate dielectric in Section 2.1. The channel is in turn fabricated out of a silicon or strained silicon on insulator stack, which is explained in Section 2.2, being the second part. The third introduced building block are the metal-semiconductor junctions in Section 2.3. Last but not least, the overall RFET concept, benefits and working principal is explained in Section 2.4.

2.1 Materials

This section is separated into two subsections and will give an introduction to the used channel material and gate dielectrics.

First, the main properties of Ge along with a short comparison to Si are presented in Section 2.1.1 and Section 2.1.1.1, respectively. The second part deals with the used gate dielectrics in Section 2.1.2 and is itself divided into two parts. The first part in Section 2.1.2.1 outlines the electrical and physical characteristics of Si and Ge oxide while the second part introduces high-k dielectrics in Section 2.1.2.2, which enable further device scaling and better electrical controllability.

2.1.1 Germanium

First discovered in 1866 by Clemens Winkler in Freiberg, Germany [23], Ge is a metalloid with the atomic number 32 and is part of the carbon group. Therefore, Ge is located in the fourth main group and fourth period in the periodic table, right beneath silicon (Si) and is showing similar characteristics. With an average Ge content in the earth's crust of 1.5 parts per million, it is a fairly rare element and does not occur as a native metal in

nature, but as a Ge mineral, where over 30 different compositions are known today [24]. Consequently, sophisticated refinement and purification techniques were needed in order to get highly pure and defect-free, electron-grade Ge for reliable devices. These requirements were faster achieved for Si, making this the first reason for the transition away from Ge and towards Si. As a fact, the first Si transistor was demonstrated by M. Tanenbaum seven years after its Ge counterpart in 1954 [25]. However, nowadays Ge is, like Si, also available in high purities, which, among others, are achieved by zone-refining methods [26]. Further details on refinement techniques for Ge and Si, like the before mentioned zone-refining methode as well as on Czochralski processes, can be found in [27].



Figure 2.1: Diamond crystal structure and band diagram of Ge. Subfigure (a) shows a diamond crystal structure along with a highlighted tetrahedron. In (b) the band structure of Ge is outlined as well as the energies of the most prominent band transitions. Diamond crystal structure adapted from [28, 29], Band diagram adapted from [30].

The electron configuration of Ge is as follows: $[Ar]3d^{10}4s^24p^2$ [30]. It exhibits four sp³ hybridized valence electrons forming a tetrahedron which crystallize in a diamond crystal structure, depicted in Figure 2.1 (a). A covalent bond is formed between neighboring Ge atoms and all available electrons are shared between them in order to fill the bonding orbitals. This forms a fully occupied valence band and an empty conduction band separated by an energy gap [31]. As depicted in the band diagram in Figure 2.1 (b), Ge is an indirect semiconductor with a minimum energy gap of $E_g=0.66eV$ at the L point. A direct band transition, without the need for an impulse change, is also possible at the Γ point with an energy difference of $E_{\Gamma 1} = 0.8 \text{ eV}$. Distinct to Si, Ge possesses both a high hole and electron mobility of $\mu_h = 1900$ and $\mu_e = 4900 \text{ cm}^2 V^{-1} s^{-1}$.

2.1.1.1 Comparison to Silicon

Si and Ge are quite similar regarding their physical and electrical behavior, both being semiconductors in the fourth main group. However, when comparing them side by side like in Table 2.1 the key advantages of Ge over Si become evident. The most essential advantage

Parameter	Ge	Si	
Crystal structure	Diamond	Diamond	
Lattice constant [Å]	5.658	5.431	
Band gap, $E_g \ [eV]$	0.66	1.12	
Electron affinity, $\chi \ [eV]$	4.0	4.05	
Electron mobility, $\mu_e \ [cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}]$	3900	1400	
Hole mobility, $\mu_h \ [cm^2 V^{-1} s^{-1}]$	1900	450	
$\overline{\text{Density, } \rho \ [gcm^{-3}] \ [27]}$	5.32	2.33	
$\overline{\text{Melting point, } T_m \ [^{\circ}C] \ [27]}$	937	1412	

Table 2.1: Comparison between Ge and Si in terms of their physical and electrical parameters. Values taken from [30]

of Ge is a 2.5 and 4 times higher electron and hole mobility and a smaller band gap in comparison to Si. However, all these advantages outweigh the poor quality of germanium oxide (GeO) or germanium dioxide (GeO₂) in comparison to silicon dioxide (SiO₂). The solution is a device architecture utilizing the superior electrical characteristics of Ge as channel material in combination with a SiO₂ gate dielectric. Details about the techniques used in this work in order to overcome the challenges of Ge as a channel material can be found in Section 2.2 where the Si capping layer is introduced and Section 3.1.1 where this layer is oxidized in order to form a high quality SiO₂ interface between the Ge and the top gate metal. The electrical controllability and/or scalability can further be improved by stacking a high- κ , commonly written as high-k, dielectric on-top of the SiO₂ interface layer.

2.1.2 Dielectrics

Dielectrics are used as insulation layer between the semiconductor channel and the topgate metal. In the following subsections a comparison between Si oxide and Ge oxide Section 2.1.2.1 is given followed by an introduction to high-k dielectrics in Section 2.1.2.2, which are used to further improve the electrical characteristics of a transistor.

2.1.2.1 Silicon Oxides Vs. Germanium Oxides

Ge forms a multitude of different oxides like GeO in amorphous form and GeO_2 which can be found in different crystallinities like hexagonal, tetragonal and also amorphous [32]. Often GeO and GeO₂ coexist making the dielectric unstable at room temperature and even water soluble in some forms [32]. Furthermore, the formed oxide strongly depends on the applied temperature and pressure during growth [33]. The preferred native oxide for electronic devices would be GeO₂, possessing the lowest defect density and leakage current [33]. Further details about the formation or removal and electrical characteristics of GeO and GeO₂ along with the need for alternative insulators ranging from SiO₂ to high-k dielectrics can be found in [32] and the following section, Section 2.1.2.2.

 SiO_2 on the other hand is very stable, has a low interface defect density along with a high breakdown field, resulting in low leakage currents and thus makes it an excellent insulator. For electronic applications, usually amorphous SiO_2 is used. It can be grown by a variety of different techniques like thermally-induced oxidation, chemical vapour deposition (CVD), evaporation, sputtering and more, all exhibiting different densities and qualities [28]. Native Si oxide is also formed if Si is exposed to ambient air. The lowest defect densities are achieved by chemically grown SiO_2 at low growth temperatures and slow growth speeds [34].

2.1.2.2 High-k Dielectrics

In 2007, the semiconductor industry witnessed its biggest change since the late 1960s and the introduction of poly-silicon gates in order to keep up with the trend of Moore's law, stating that transistors should halve in size every 24 months [6, 35]. High-k dielectrics were introduced to the gate stack, effectively minimizing leakage currents.

Due to constant field scaling, CMOS scaling not only concerned the reduction in channel length but also all other dimensions [10, 11]. This meant that, among others, the channel width, depletion layer thickness, supply voltage and, most importantly, the gate oxide thickness would have to be reduced. At some point, the insulating layer was supposed to be only a couple of atom layers thick, thus increasing gate leakage currents dramatically. The scaling limit of SiO₂ was reached [36].

This chapter will therefore introduce high-k dielectrics and highlight their advantages over conventional SiO₂. Furthermore, some potential high-k dielectrics for devices fabricated in the scope of this thesis are listed and compared in Table 2.2 and Figure 2.2. In subsection Section 4.2.1 of the results and discussion chapter, the usage of the high-k dielectric ZrO_2 for this thesis is motivated.

By the introduction of dielectric layers with higher relative permittivities ϵ_r , also referred to as high- κ or just high-k, the equivalent oxide thickness (EOT) can be reduced even further, fulfilling Moore's law. Due to the increase in ϵ_r a constant electrical capacitance, formed by the gate electrode, the high-k dielectric layer and the channel, allowed thicker oxide layers according to [35]:

$$C = \frac{\epsilon_o \epsilon_r A}{t_{ox}}$$

As a result of the increased oxide thickness t_{ox} , the gate leakage current along with the power consumption was effectively reduced [37]. The before mentioned equivalent oxide thickness, or short EOT, of the high-k oxide layer represents the corresponding thickness

Table 2.2: Relative permittivity ϵ_r , band gap E_g and electron affinity χ of Si, Ge and SiO₂ in comparison with possible high-k dielectrics.

Values for Si and Ge taken from [30], Values for the electron affinity and bang gap of the dielectrics taken from [38], Values for the rel. permittivity of ZrO_2 taken from [39], while the remaining are from [36].

Material	Rel. permittivity ϵ_r	Band gap E_g [eV]	Electron affinity χ [eV]	
Si	11.9	1.1	4.0	
Ge	16.2	0.66	4.0	
SiO_2	3.9	9	0.9	
$\overline{\mathrm{Al}_2\mathrm{O}_3}$	9.5 - 12	8.8	1	
$\overline{\mathrm{HfO}_2}$	16-30	6	2.5	
ZrO_2	20-30	5.8	2.5	

of a SiO_2 layer, which has the same electrical capacitance and can be calculated as follows [36]:

$$C_{SiO_2} = C_{high \ k}$$
$$\frac{\epsilon_{r_{SiO_2}}}{t_{ox_{SiO_2}}} = \frac{\epsilon_{r_{high \ k}}}{t_{ox_{high \ k}}}$$
$$EOT = t_{ox_{SiO_2}} = \frac{\epsilon_{r_{SiO_2}}}{\epsilon_{r_{high \ k}}} \cdot t_{ox_{high \ k}}$$

Table 2.2 compares the relative permittivity ϵ_r , band gap energy E_g and electron affinity χ of some high-k dielectrics which were considered for this thesis. The values for Si and Ge are also listed as a reference. An increased dielectric constant goes along with a decreased band gap [40]. Therefore, a trade off between ϵ_r and band gap energy, or the respective oxide thickness and barrier energy needs to be considered. Furthermore, as shown in Figure 2.2, the dielectric band alignment with respective to the semiconductor valence and conduction band edge needs to be taken into account for the case of Ge in combination with the dielectrics mentioned in Table 2.2.

A schematic band diagram highlighting the valence and conduction band edge offsets between a semiconductor and dielectric is shown in Figure 2.2 (a). The corresponding band offsets for Ge and potential high-k dielectrics stated in Table 2.2 are indicated in Figure 2.2 (b). Note the lower conduction barrier height in comparison to the valence band barrier, which applies for all depicted oxides. In the case of HfO_2 and ZrO_2 the conduction band offset is even less than half the valence band offset. Note, that the illustrated band diagrams in Figure 2.2 (a) and (b) show idealized alignments without interface defects or charges inside the dielectric.



Figure 2.2: Idealized semiconductor/dielectric band diagram. Subfigure (a) shows a schematic band diagram of an arbitrary semiconductor and dielectric in flat band condition. The red arrows indicate the required emission energies needed in order to overcome the energy barriers. Subfigure (b) illustrates the band offset of potential high-k dielectrics and SiO_2 to the Ge valence band edge. The calculated valence and conduction band offsets are stated for each dielectric. The energies are normalized to the Ge valence band edge. Calculated values are rounded and taken from Table 2.2.

2.2 Germanium Rich Layers on Insulators

Isolating only the electrical properties of Ge, independent of the surround geometry, is crucial for a proof of concept work as presented in this thesis. This isolation is achieved by an insulating layer encapsulating the semiconductor. Therefore, this chapter will highlight the benefits of semiconductor on insulator technologies in comparison to their bulk counterpart. For this purpose, the advantages of Si on insulators (SOIs) are first highlighted along with the differences to germanium on insulators (GeOIs). Next, a Ge on Si insulator platform is introduced, combining both strengths of pure Ge and SiO₂.

SOIs consist of a thick Si handle wafer at the bottom, followed by a buried oxide layer (BOX) and Si device layer on top. In the case of Si the BOX usually consists of SiO₂, which is isolating the bulk handle wafer from the actual device layer. As a result, parasitic capacitance's and bulk leakage currents are reduced, consequently improving device performance and power consumption [41]. Another benefit of SOI is the transversal confinement of the channel in height enabling partial or full depleted MOSFETs, which further improves the controllability [42]. This is also interesting for RFETs, since the off current can be reduced even further by fully pinching off the channel as in conventional JFETs. GeOI share the advantages of SOI technologies, however with major drawbacks in quality due to the poor electrical and physical characteristics of native Ge oxides, as stated

in Section 2.1.2.1. Other dielectrics like Al_2O_3 are used instead, which however further complicate the fabrication process [43]. Furthermore, high quality Ge is harder to manufacture than Si, thus bulk Ge with lower quality is often used, possessing higher dislocation densities and lower charge carrier mobilities [44].

In order to utilize the benefits of Ge as semiconductor material, as described in Section 2.1.1, a high quality BOX and Ge device layer are needed. A combination of SOI with a Ge layer is required. One approach to solve this issue, is the growth of Ge on top of a strained silicon on insulator (sSOI) or SOI base material, consisting of a SiO₂ BOX and a Si handle wafer [45, 46]. The high quality Ge device layer is thereby epitaxially grown by molecular beam epitaxy (MBE). However, due to the lattice mismatch of Si and Ge, given in Table 2.1, internal strain limits the grown layer thickness and results in increased dislocation densities and surface roughness. By adding another SiGe layer with a higher Ge content, the internal stress of the Ge device layer is reduced and thicker layers are depositable [45]. Oxidation of the Ge layer is prevented by adding a Si capping layer atop. A sketch of the resulting stack is presented in Figure 3.1 of the next chapter covering the fabrication techniques. Note, that the bottom semiconductor handle wafer and BOX can act as an additional back-gate.

2.3 Metal-Semiconductor Heterostructure

The metal-semiconductor heterojunctions and the resulting transitions are essential for the working principal of RFETs. Therefore, this chapter is devoted to this topic, starting with an introduction to metal-semiconductor transitions and what happens to the band diagram if they are brought into contact, illustrated in Figure 2.3 along with important designators. An overview of the resulting contacts is given in Figure 2.4. The emerging pinning level depending on the used semiconductor (Si or Ge) and metal is discussed in Figure 2.6. The actual contact formation between the metal and semiconductor is addressed in Section 2.3.1.

The vacuum level indicates the energy level of a free stationary electron and is a reference energy for materials with different work functions. In Figure 2.3 (a) and (c) the metal and p- and n-type semiconductor with the work-function Φ_m and Φ_s are aligned to the vacuum level. Since both materials are far apart from each other they do not influence one another. This however changes if the metal and semiconductor are brought in close contact to each other as shown in Figure 2.3 (b) and (d) where the fermi levels must align at thermal equilibrium. Depending on the metal work function Φ_m and the semiconductor fermi level the band of the semiconductor is either bent upwards, as depicted in (b) for a p-doped semiconductor, or downwards, as shown in (d) for n-type doping. The gradient of the bending and the width of the depletion zone depend on the doping intensity [28]. The resulting barrier height however, is determined by the difference from the metal work function Φ_m and the electron affinity χ_s of the respective semiconductor, as shown in the



Figure 2.3: Band diagram for a metal and p- or n-type semiconductor before and after contacting. In subfigure (a) and (c) the metal and semiconductor are align in respect to the vacuum level. When brought into close contact to each other, the fermi level of the metal and semiconductor align and a band bending occurs, illustrated in subfigure (b) and (d). The bending curvature and direction depends on the metal and semiconductor work-function Φ_m and Φ_s respectively. Subfigures (a) and (b) show a n-type semiconductor and subfigures (c) and (d) a p-type semiconductor.

 E_F represents the fermi level energy, Φ the work-function, χ the electron-affinity, q a charge, E_C and E_V the conduction and valence band energies along with E_G the band-gap energy, W the width of the depletion region, Indices M or S stand for metal and semiconductor, respectively, Φ_B for the induced barrier along with Φ_n and Φ_p for the energy difference from conduction- or valence-band to fermi level for n- and p-type semiconductor [47]. Adapted from [28, 29, 48]

following equations [28]:

$$q\Phi_{B,n} = q(\Phi_m - \chi_s)$$
$$q\Phi_{B,p} = E_G - q(\Phi_m - \chi_s)$$

This approximation assumes a defect free interface and a abrupt metal-semiconductor junction [28, 49]. Dangling bonds or interface states could shift the barrier height and curvature and would result in unreliable contacts. Therefore, a low interface state density is crucial for a reliable and reproducible device behavior [49, 50].



Figure 2.4: Illustrations of metal-semiconductor transitions for p- and n-type semiconductors and metals with different work functions, resulting in Schottky or Ohmic contacts. In subfigure (a) and (b) a Schottky contact is formed, hence presenting a barrier for electrons and holes. No barrier is present for the materials presented in subfigure (c) and (d), which form a so-called Ohmic contact. (a) and (c) show the band bending for a n-type semiconductor, (b) and (d) for a p-type semiconductor along with different metal work functions Φ_m . The relation between the metal and semiconductor work function is stated in the respective subfigure. Adapted from [28, 29]

As mentioned above, depending on the used material composition forming the contactinterface, different band bendings and barrier heights are observed. Four distinct scenarios are depicted in Figure 2.4 for either a n- and p-type semiconductor in contact with a metal possessing a lower or higher work function as the corresponding semiconductor. Among these four cases, two specific band alignments emerge.

The first one is a so-called Ohmic contact, which is defined by have a negligible small contact resistance relative to the bulk metal or semiconductor, illustrated in Figure 2.4 (c) and (d). Therefore, the metal-semiconductor junction should not degrade the device performance significantly [51]. An Ohmic contact is formed, if the respective fermi level is above or below the conduction or valence band respectively, resulting in unoccupied states above the fermi level at the interface, highlighted in red.

The second type is a so-called Schottky contact shown in subfigure (a) and (b) in Figure 2.4. In contrast to the ohmic contact, the Schottky contact does not have unoccupied boarder states since the fermi level is inside the band-gap. This results in a rectifying behavior due to the formed barrier. Devices designed for both electron and hole currents should have a

CHAPTER 2. THEORY

nearly identical barrier height for both charge carrier types. This can, to some degree, be engineered by the metal and semiconductor composition, as discussed in the end of this section.



Figure 2.5: Charge carrier transport mechanisms for electrons and holes at Schottky barrier. The total current flow consists of (1) thermionic emission, (2) tunneling, (3) hole recombination, (4) electron diffusion into depletion zone and (5) hole injection to the semiconductor. Adapted from [28, 29]

Further band bending of the Schottky barrier is achieved by the application of a bias voltage across the metal-semiconductor junction, resulting in a lower or higher flow of charge carriers. According to Sze [28] metal-semiconductor junctions are mostly dominated by the majority carriers which can be subdivided into five different transport mechanisms illustrated for a positive bias in Figure 2.5. The thermionic emission, enumerated with (1), represents electrons which are thermally excited and surpass the barrier while quantum mechanical tunneling (2) on the other hand describes the tunneling of chargers trough the barrier itself. Moreover, the recombination of electrons and holes in the space charge region (3) also result in a charge motion. Furthermore, electrons can diffuse towards the space charge region (4) while holes are injected into the metal (5).

Depending on the applied conditions, like the bias voltage, temperature, doping and metalsemiconductor composition, distinct charge carrier transport mechanism dominated. Since the total current is a superposition of all mechanisms it is difficult to distinguish them from each other. Alternatively the different transport mechanisms can be categorized into three types, namely the field emission (FE), reflecting the tunneling current through the barrier, the thermionic emission (TE), identical to the afore introduced, and the combination of both mechanisms denoted as thermionic-field emission (TFE).

As mentioned before, by using different metals and/or semiconductors the barrier height and relative energy can be modulated. This is summarized in Figure 2.6 for Ge and Si along with a variety of contact metals. For Si a large, however equal, barrier height for electrons and holes is created by most metals and is hence located close to the band-gap center. This implies a strong fermi level pinning for an intrinsic semiconductor [53]. For Ge on the



Figure 2.6: Energy barrier heights for Si and Ge in contact with different metals. The pinning of Ge is located close to the valence band edge. For Si however, the pinning is localized around the band-gap center. Adapted from [29, 52, 53]

other hand, the pinning is close to the valence band, thus creating unequally high barriers for both charge carriers. In theory, Si would therefore have the more suitable interface for RFETs, where the charge carrier type is switched during runtime. More details about the interface of the devices fabricated in the scope of this thesis are presented in the Results and Discussion chapter in Section 4.1.1.

2.3.1 Metal-Semiconductor: Contact Formation

This section is highlighting the contact formation between the metal and semiconductor junction as used in the fabrication process in Section 3.1.2.4. The goal is an abrupt and reproducible metal-semiconductor junction possessing a low interface defect density. Therefore, the established Al diffusion technique presented by Wind et al. in [20, 50, 54] is used. As a bonus, the semiconductor segment length can be tailored to specific needs by adjusting the diffusion time. The presented technique only works for metals like Al, which do not form intermetallic phase at the interface [50]. Otherwise, the interfaces defect density increases resulting in a different pinning level and Schottky barrier height, as mentioned in the previous section, Section 2.3.

The metal-semiconductor transitions are formed by a thermally induced exchange process of the Al and the semiconductor, being Si or Ge. Due to the fast self-diffusion of Al, Al is efficiently supplied from the metal source to the semiconductor junction in order to compensate the out-diffusion of Si or Ge. When comparing the diffusion coefficients in

Table 2.3: Diffusion rates for Al-Si and Al-Ge material compositions. Note the high diffusion coefficient for the semiconductors in Al. Values given for a temperature of $T = 500^{\circ}C$. Adapted from [50].

Al in Al	Al in Si	Al in Ge	Si in Al	Ge in Al	Si in Si	Ge in Ge
$[cm^2s^{-1}]$	$[cm^2s^{-1}]$	$[cm^2s^{-1}]$	$[cm^2s^{-1}]$	$[cm^2s^{-1}]$	$[cm^2s^{-1}]$	$[cm^2s^{-1}]$
$6.3 \ge 10^{-10}$	$2.0 \ge 10^{-22}$	$3.3 \ge 10^{-20}$	4.4 x 10 ⁻⁸	3.1 x 10 ⁻⁹	$6.5 \ge 10^{-19}$	$8.4 \ge 10^{-20}$

Table 2.3 it becomes evident that high diffusion rates of Al, Si and Ge in Al cause this behavior. The diffusion of Al in Si and Ge or the semiconductor in itself is slower by about 10 orders of magnitude. A detailed understanding of the diffusion process is elaborated in [54] and the corresponding Al-Si and Al-Ge phase diagrams are shown in the supporting information of [50].

Furthermore, the metal diffusion process retains its elementary composition even for several subsequent annealing steps. Thus, the remaining semiconductor segment length can be decreased step by step. For narrow Al contacts single-elementary contacts are observed [54]. The abruptness of the metal-semiconductor transitions are shown by EDX measurements presented in [50] and in the Results and Discussion in Section 4.1.1.

2.4 Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor (RFET)

As addressed in the introduction of this thesis, conventional transistor scaling according to Moore's law [6], slowly but surely reaches physical limits and other concepts need to be taken into account. Considering the IRDS roadmap [3], different approaches are given under the name of *Beyond CMOS* for increasing device functionalities that do not follow Moore's scaling theory. One of these concepts is the reconfigurable field-effect Transistor, or short RFET, treated in this thesis.

This chapter will motivate the RFET concept itself and give an introduction into the working principle and physical requirements needed by referring to the previous chapters. Next, advantages over conventional transistor types are given in Section 2.4.1. The different RFET device architectures are covered in Section 2.4.2 along with a comparison to Schottky barrier Field-Effect Transistors (SBFETs). The electrical transport mechanism is discussed in Section 2.4.3 along with an illustration of the different work modes of RFETs in Figure 2.8.

RFETs increase the functionality of a single transistor by incorporating a unipolar p- and n-type operation mode into one single device. The desired device operation type is electrically selected and is changeable during runtime. Therefore, a semiconductor channel material capable of conducting both charge carriers and posses the capability of filter out the undesired electrons or holes by application of an electrical field to the respective gate, is required.[22].

Thus, an undoped semiconductor is used as channel material, not preferring one charge carrier type over the other due to the mid bang-gap fermi level. Schottky barriers with similar heights for both holes and electrons are required for the mentioned filtering of the unwanted charge carrier, covered in Section 2.3 about metal-semiconductor junctions and the formed contacts and fermi level pinning. Thereto, abrupt and reliable metalsemiconductor interfaces are equally important. A fabrication technique fulfilling these requirements is treated in Section 2.3.1, describing the metal-semiconductor exchange process. The desired operation type is selected by the application of an electrical field to top-gates located above the Schottky barriers. In order to prevent an unwanted leakage current, an isolating layer between the conducting channel and top-gate electrodes is indispensable. Therefore, dielectrics as stated in Section 2.1.2 are used, featuring different interface qualities as discussed in Section 2.1.2.1 comparing Si to Ge oxide. Insulating layers with higher relative permittivity can improve the electrical control and reduce unwanted tunneling currents. A further improvement in controllability is accomplished by using semiconductor on insulators as mentioned in Section 2.2.

The first Si based RFET concept was introduced by H.C. Lin et al. [55] in 2000 as a way to suppress undesired off-states currents in TFETs and was further improved by Heinzig et al. [21] in 2011. The later device concept thereby consists of a Si nanowire with intruded NiSi₂ contacts [56] and two top gates, each overlapping one Schottky barrier. Since then a variety of different material systems, comprising Si and Ge as channel semiconductor, and fabrication techniques, as bottom-up grown nanowires and top-down fabricated nanosheets, have improved the reliability and reproducibility of RFETs [15, 55, 57, 58]. An additional material composition with a novel material stack is presented in the Results and Discussion chapter, Chapter 4 of this thesis, based on previous work by Fuchsberger et al. [29, 59, 60].

2.4.1 Advantages of RFETs

This section highlights the advantages of RFETs in comparison to conventional CMOS transistors. Starting with the channel material, for CMOS transistors usually a doped semiconductor, depending on the majority charge carrier type, is used, which implies the presents of foreign atoms. For RFETs (and SBFETs) however, the channel is undoped and therefore free of impurity atoms. At decreasing scales, reliable doping becomes more challenging and results in increased impurity-scattering [22].

As the name reconfigurable FET suggest, RFETs can change from p- to n-mode or vice versa during runtime, depending on the wanted operation type. The advantage becomes even more apparent when considering logic blocks or whole circuits as discussed in [15]. Not only can the total transistor count be reduced significantly, but also the responding delay [61]. RFETs with multiple control-gates can be used as wired logic devices, possessing wired AND or NOR logic functionalities as demonstrated in [62] and Section 4.3.4 of this thesis.

As a result of the runtime switching and interchanging functionality of RFET circuit designs, hardware security is increased [63]. By so-called NAND/NOR obfuscation, circuits are made physically uncloneable [63]. Thus, the listed advantages arise not only from the selected material and its metal-semiconductor junction, but also from the circuit design and desired functionality.

2.4.2 **RFET Architecture**

RFETs can be manufactured using a wide variety of fabrication techniques, ranging from bottom-up nanowires [64] or top-down nanosheets [58], and materials like Si [56] and Ge [65], but the basic working principle remains the same: One single device which can be dynamically configured for either p- or n-mode operation during runtime. This chapter will give an overview of the different top-gate arrangements, shown in Figure 2.7, and discuss its influence on the electrical device behavior. First however, there is a discussion of what an RFET is made of and what properties are required.

The concept of an RFET is based on two metal-semiconductor junctions and a channel region, along with top-gates enabling the electrostatic control of these regions. Since the RFET should conduct both holes and electrons, represented by a p- or n-mode, equally well, a suitable material system is required. Therefore, the channel itself must be able to allow the flow of holes and electrons. This is the case for semiconductors with a fermi level close to the middle of the band-gap, like for intrinsic, undoped Si or Ge, see Section 2.1.1. Beside the channel material, the metal-semiconductor junctions are essential for RFETs. Yet again, a good conductivity for both holes and electrons is needed. As discussed in Section 2.3 this need is fulfilled for a mid band-gap pinning. Hence, the wire, being a nanowire or nanosheet, consists of a metal-semiconductor-metal assembly, depicted in Figure 2.7 in blue and orange. By adding top-gates, one charge carrier is preferred, putting the device either in p- or n-mode. Only a suitable combination of all material properties result in proper RFETs, in respect to the evaluation requirements mentioned in Section 3.2.2.

The before mentioned different device architectures refer to various top-gate arrangements which are illustrated in Figure 2.7 for a STG (a), DTG (b), TTG (c) and 4TG (d). Note that p-mode or p-type operation refers to an upward band bending enabling the free passage of holes (h+), whereas n-mode or n-type operation indicates a downward bending allow the flow of electrons (e-). The naming is based on its FET counterparts.

A STG has, as the name single top-gate suggests, one single top-gate (TG) covering the whole channel region along with both metal-semiconductor junctions. As a result, the whole semiconductor as well as the injection barriers at source and drain are controlled by one top-gate resulting in an ambipolar behavior without distinct p- and n-modes. This behavior and top-gate geometry are an analogy to a Schottky barrier FET (SBFET), how-ever in the context of RFETs the term STG is used [66].

By adding another top-gate over one metal-semiconductor junction, one branch of the



Figure 2.7: Illustration of the top-gate arrangements of a STG, DTG, TTG and 4TG. Note the wide control-gate (CG) for the DTG and the physically connected polarity-gates for the TTG and 4TG. Source and drain are labeled for the geometrically asymmetric devices.

originally ambipolar behavior is suppressed, hence making the device polar. A dual topgate or DTG is created. This gate is therefore baptized polarity-gate or PG along with the control-gate (CG), covering the remaining channel region and metal-semiconductor junction. However, this makes the architecture geometrically and electrically asymmetric. For all devices presented in this thesis, the polarity-gate was placed of the drain metalsemiconductor junction, as shown on Figure 2.7 (b). This has the benefit of a positive bias for the n-mode and a negative bias for the p-mode along with same sign control-gate and polarity-gate voltages, as its MOSFET counterparts. A polarity-gate at source would result in a flipped bias direction. What happens if the bias direction is not changed, is discussed in the next section about the electrical transport mechanism, Section 2.4.3.

A second polarity-gate overlapping the other semi-conductor junction gives a triple topgate or TTG depicted in Figure 2.7 (c). The polar behavior of the DTG is preserved and enhanced by the addition of another polarity-gate and the ability to modulate both injection barriers separately of the control-gate. By physically connecting the two polarity-gates overlapping the junctions the top-gate arrangement becomes geometrically and electrically symmetric and bias direction independent. Source and drain can thus be chosen freely. All TTG devices covered in this thesis had this physical connection of the two polarity-gates, due to the limited amount of probe needles connected to SMU at the used measurement station discussed in Section 3.2.1.

Adding a second control-gate between the polarity-gates results in a 4TG design, presented in Figure 2.7 (d). This top-gate arrangement is by design not electrically asymmetric, however by labeling the left control-gate CG1 or A the device became asymmetric in terms of its input selection. The further addition of control-gates would result in 5TG, 6TG and so forth architectures.

Although, the STG and TTG design are geometrically and electrically symmetric, source and drain were chosen in accordance to the top-gate arrangement made for the DTG and 4TG device, where source is on the left, drain on the right.

The different device architectures presented above not only differ from each other in terms of their geometry, but also in their electrical behavior. A comparison between an STG, DTG and TTG is shown in Figure 4.4, at equal bias and top-gate voltages. The transfer measurements are shown on a semi-logarithmic plot, with the absolute drain current $|I_D|$ along with the absolute top-gate leakage currents, $|I_{TG}|$, $|I_{PG}|$ and $|I_{CG}|$, on the ordinate (denoted with $|I_{TG/D}|$) and the top-gate or control-gate voltage on the abscissa (denoted with V_{CG}). The respective polarity-gate voltages for p- and n-mode are labeled in the top left and right corner. Note, that the bias is set to $V_{DS} = 2V$ and applied in a symmetric fashion for the STG and TTG. For the DTG however, the bias is applied asymmetrically and with a flipped direction for the p-mode branch, as discussed in the next section, Section 2.4.3 and in Section 3.2.1.2.

As mentioned above, the STG only has one single top-gate covering the whole channel region and overlapping both metal-semiconductor junctions at drain and source. Therefore, the entire band is moved at once (discussed in Section 2.4.3), resulting in an ambipolar behavior as shown in Figure 4.4 in blue, with no distinct p- or n-mode as its multi top-gate counterparts.

For architectures with two top-gates, as the illustrated DTG in Figure 2.7 with the polarity-gate at the drain metal-semiconductor junction, explicit p- and n-modes are observed in Figure 4.4 in red. The corresponding transport mechanism and band diagrams are discussed in Section 2.4.3 and Figure 2.8.

For a TTG architecture with two polarity-gates over each metal-semiconductor junction and one separate top-gate covering the remaining channel, the transfer characteristic also exhibit a controllable p- or n-mode, depicted in Figure 4.4 in black.

As seen in Figure 4.4 each architecture has its own benefits and drawbacks, hence making the RFET concept even more versatile by the ability to tailor the top-gate geometry to the desired application. The ambipolar character is unique for the STG design and results in no explicit off-state region however an lowest current point which will be referred to as off-state. The DTG architecture possesses distinct p- and n-mode regions, with on-state currents and threshold voltages V_{th} close to the STG. As the DTG, the TTG also possesses a distinct p- and n-mode branch, however with a typically higher on-state current at the cost of a lower threshold voltage V_{th} . This shift in the threshold voltage and increase in current is explained in the next section covering the electrical transport mechanisms, Section 2.4.3.

2.4.3 Electrical Transport Mechanism

In this section the electrical transport mechanism for different RFET architectures introduced in the previous section, Section 2.4.2, will be explained by the corresponding energy band diagrams [28].



Figure 2.8: Operating regions depending on the applied control- and polarity-gate voltage with corresponding band diagram of a DTG, in backward (a) and forward (b) bias direction, and a TTG (c). Dashed lines at V_{PG} separate the p- and n-mode regions, while dashed lines at V_{CG} mark the separation of on- and off-state quadrants. Red and blue circles represent holes and electrons respectively, along with their moving direction, indicated by arrows. Note the different bias directions for the DTG in (a) and (b) and corresponding shift of the drain and source potential. For (c), the TTG, the bias direction is set to a positive value.

Figure 2.8 shows the different operation regions of a DTG with a neg. (a) and pos. bias (b) and a TTG in (c) at varying control- and polarity-gate voltages and bias direction. Corresponding sketches of the band diagrams are depicted in each in quadrant, illustrating the transport mechanism along with the charge carrier type. For the off-current quadrants the charger carrier transport is prevented by a control-gate controlled mid-channel barrier or a polarity-gate controlled injection barrier at the metal-semiconductor junction.

As mentioned in Section 2.4.2, introducing the different RFET architectures, a TTG has three top-gates, including two physically connected polarity-gates over the metalsemiconductor junctions along with one control-gate over the remaining channel region. This geometrical symmetry makes the TTG bias direction independent. Therefore, the transport mechanisms can be explained by the forward/positive bias direction as shown in Figure 2.8 (a). In case of a negative bias direction, the band diagrams are mirrored vertically, while the drain and source location stay the same.

Figure 2.8 (c) can be separated into two regions, a p-type region for negative polarity-gate voltages or a n-type region for positive polarity-gate voltages, in analogue to a conventional p- or n-channel FET. For RFETs however, these regions are usually termed p- or n-mode region. Depending on the applied control-gate voltage in the respective region, either an on- or off-state is reached, denoted with on- and off-quadrants in Figure 2.8. For same sign polarity- and control-gate voltages an on-state is reached. For the case of a positive polarity- and control-gate, the TTG is configured for n-mode operation and is located in the first quadrant or n-mode on-state quadrant. The overall band diagram is bent downward, resulting in transparent injection barriers and no channel barrier. Electrons, as the majority charge carrier in that configuration, can flow freely from source to drain, as indicated by the blue circles and arrows. However, if the control-gate voltage is flipped to negative voltages, a mid channel barrier is induced, effectively blocking the flow of electrons, as depicted in the second quadrant. For negative polarity-gate voltages the same holds true, however the band diagram is bent upward, allowing the flow of holes, represented by red circles.

The simplest device architecture, consisting of just one top-gate covering both the semiconductor junctions and channel region, is the STG. Due to the single gate atop the whole band is bent simultaneously, modulating the injection barriers and channel region at once. The corresponding STG band diagram can be adapted from its triple top-gate counterparts, shown in Figure 2.8 (c) at equivalent polarity- and control-gate voltages $V_{PG} = V_{CG}$, effectively resulting in an STG with narrow and negligible ungated regions in between the individual gates. Therefore, the corresponding band diagrams of an STG are shown in quadrant 1 and 3 of Figure 2.8 (c), for the flow of electrons and holes respectively. Note, that for STGs it can be assumed that an effective blocking of charge carriers is never reached, resulting in an overlapping transition from electron to hole current and vice versa. This assumption is motivated by the high off-state point current presented in Figure 4.4. A DTG, consisting of only one polarity-gate overlaping the drain-sided metal-semiconductor junction and one control-gate stretching over the remaining channel region and the source-sided junction which results in an geometrically asymmetric top-gate arrangement, as discussed in Section 2.4.2. This asymmetry makes the DTG bias direction dependent. Therefore, band diagrams for a negative/backward and positive/forward bias direction are shown in Figure 2.8 (a) and (b) respectively. Note, that the location of source and drain is not exchanged in the sketches.

Considering the DTG band diagram shown in Figure 2.8 (b), for a device biased in forward direction, the band diagram of quadrant 1, for same and positive sign polarity- and controlgate voltages, illustrates the on-state of the n-mode. For the same polarity-gate however along with a flipped sign control-gate voltage, the device is put into off-state, effectively blocking both the injection of electrons and holes at the two Schottky barriers, as depicted in the second quadrant. The DTG band diagram in this quadrant is thereby different to the TTG counterpart, as the control-gate stretches over the source-side metal-semiconductor junction and the channel area, resulting in an overall lifted band except for the region under the polarity-gate. The third quadrant, set by both negative polarity- and controlgate voltages, indicates the same electrostatic situation as for the previously mentioned TTG, with a hole conduction from drain to source. Quadrant four on the other hand does not effectively block the flow of charge carriers as expected. In order to fully understand the involved transport mechanisms in this quadrant, further measurements and simulations need to be carried out and were not part of this thesis. However, the following paragraph is going to give possible explanations, which were also considered in the analysis made in Chapter 4, discussing the respective measurement results.

One possible explanation for the observed current flow of the presented DTG device configuration shown in Figure 2.8 (a) quadrant two or (b) quadrant four is the depicted band-toband tunneling [67]. Thereby the respective charge carrier quantum-mechanically tunnels through a thinned barrier, consisting of the strongly bent band diagram, to the opposite band either directly or via intermediate trap states inside the band-gap [68]. However, the tunneling probability strongly depends on the barrier thickness and therefore the band bending induced by the control- and polarity-gate along with the respective spacing in between the two gates [49]. Moreover, stray charges or traps further screen the applied potential, resulting in a lower overall bending. Another possible interpretation is also based on the depicted band bending and the thereby resulting potential *pockets*, induced by the polarity-gate. This suggests a gradual filling of the pockets with charges and results in an effective lowering of the barriers and pockets. Furthermore, opposing sign charges accumulate at the left-hand side of the barrier, further reducing the relative barrier height. This process comes to hold when an equilibrium is reached and could result in a constant flow of charge carriers along with electron-hole pair recombination [49].

CHAPTER 2. THEORY

For TTG designs with individually controllable polarity-gates, TTGs are able to achieve a similar characteristic as the presented DTGs, by varying the drain or source polarity-gate simultaneously with the control-gate for forward of backward biased devices respectively. This could not be tested on the devices fabricated in the scope of this thesis, because of the physical connection of the polarity-gates, but is presented in literature and referred to as low/high $V_{\rm th}$ mode TTG in [69].

As discussed in the paragraph above, DTG devices will be measured with a positive/forward bias for the n-mode and a negative/backward bias for the p-mode. This configuration is also highlighted in Figure 2.8 (a) and (b) by the red and blue p- and n-type regions. A further discussion about the bias direction and symmetry is also given in the next chapter concerning the measurement techniques in Section 3.2.1.2.

Corresponding measurements over varying polarity- and control-gate voltages are introduced in Section 3.2.5 as polarity-gate characterization, of the next chapter and can be directly mapped to respective band diagrams illustrated in Figure 2.8.

Chapter 3

Experimental Techniques

The goal of this thesis is the fabrication and detailed electrical characterization of Ge RFETs, fabricated in a top-down approach based on molecular beam epitaxy (MBE) grown Ge on either strained or unstrained SOI substrates. The theoretical background of RFETs including the importance of the metal-semiconductor junction was given in Sections 2.3 and 2.4, respectively. The following chapter will introduce the fabrication process used to fabricate RFETs (Section 3.1) and give an overview of the different electrical characterizations techniques (Section 3.2).

The first Section 3.1.1 will start with an introduction to the base-substrate, out of which the RFETs are fabricated according to the fabrication process described in Section 3.1.2. Starting off with the plain wafer stack, the process begins with the nanosheet patterning and oxidation, followed by the Al drain and source deposition along with the Al-Ge exchange, finishing with the deposition of the top gates.

The electrical characterization methods are outlined in Section 3.2 starting with a specification of the measurement setup and procedures in Section 3.2.1. Followed by Section 3.2.2, listing a series of device characteristics extracted from the characterization techniques described in Sections 3.2.3 to 3.2.6 and 3.2.8, like the transfer measurement. In the last section the automated evaluation script is described regarding its output and capabilities. The evaluation results presented in Chapter 4 are extracted with the aforementioned script.

3.1 Fabrication of Germanium Based RFETs

This section is devoted solely to the sample fabrication and will delineate the processing steps that need to be taken from the plain base-substrate, described in Section 3.1.2.1, to a finished RFET in Section 3.1.2.5. In the first section, Section 3.1.1, the used base-substrate is introduced as well as the needed fabrication steps in order to arrive at the wafer stacks depicted in Figure 3.1. Unique for these substrates are the 10nm thick layers

of pure Ge, which are grown atop of a silicon on insulator (SOI) or strained silicon on insulator (sSOI) wafer. These wafer stacks are further processed in a top-down approach, in order to fabricate RFETs out of these, as described in Section 3.1.2. An overview of the process steps that have to be carried out in sequence are shown in Figure 3.3 and is described in the equally named and numbered Sections 3.1.2.1 and 3.1.2.5. The sample is furthermore visualized in Figure 3.3 (a) to (i) at different stages during the process along with a cross section of a fully processed TTG in Figure 3.4.



3.1.1 Strained and Unstrained Silicon on Insulator Base-Substrate

Figure 3.1: Illustration of the used substrate stack as cross section. The main difference between the two substrates is in the composition and thickness of the respective device layer. The strained silicon on insulator (sSOI) substrate shown in subfigure (a) possesses a strained Si device layer and is hence named Ge on sSOI (GesSOI) whereas the device layer on the silicon on insulator (SOI) substrate is pure Si and not stressed given it the name Ge on SOI (GesOI), depicted in subfigure (b).

Layers not to scale.

The base-substrate for all fabricated RFETs covered in this work are either a sSOI or SOI stack, outlined in Figure 3.1 (a) and (b), respectively. The according wafer stack consist of a strained or unstrained SOI wafer and MBE grown Si, Ge and Si layers on top. The mentioned sSOI wafer consists of a Si handler layer with (001) orientation with a 145*nm* thick SiO₂ buried oxide (BOX) and a 14*nm* strained Si layer atop, shown in the lower three layers of Figure 3.1 (a). The strained Si layer was grown on top of a relaxed silicon-germanium layer with an Ge content of approx. 17% (Si₈₃Ge₁₇), resulting in a lattice mismatch, see Table 2.1 and is therefore subjected to in-plane tensile stress. After growth the strained Si layer was transferred to the depicted SOI wafer, resulting in a Ge free wafer-scale strained Si device layer [70, 71]. This lattice mismatch is consequently needed in order to grow thicker Ge layers without excessive defect formation or delamination in the worst case. However, by reducing the process temperature during MBE growth, thicker layers are depositable, despite the existing lattice mismatch [45, 72]. On top of
the strained layer a 8nm Si buffer, and a 10nm Ge along with a 3nm Si capping layer are grown with MBE.

The SOI based substrate depicted in Figure 3.1 (b) on the other hand, possesses an overall thinner BOX, a 20nm thick pure Si layer without Ge, an 8nm thick Si buffer and the pure Ge layer capped with a 3nm thick Si layer on top. Note that the layers in the illustration of the cross section of Figure 3.1 are not true to scale.



Figure 3.2: AFM measurements of the GesSOI (a) and GeSOI (b) substrate before processing, showing the surface topography of the corresponding Si capping layer. The root-mean-square (RMS) surface roughness (row alignment with a polynomial-5 fit) is $S_q = 487pm$ for the GesSOI substrate and $S_q = 287pm$ for the GeSOI substrate. Note the different scale for each measurement. The AFM measurements were performed by Enrique Prado Nvarrete and Johannes Aberl at Johannes Kepler Università α t (JKU) in Linz.

The layers are grown in a Riber SIVA-45 MBE chamber after a cleaning procedure including a hydrofluoric acid (HF 1%) dip in order to remove the native oxide. The 10nm thick Ge layer along with the 3nm Si capping layer were deposited at $T = 250^{\circ}C$, hence the supplementary *low-T* in Figure 3.1. The corresponding AFM measurements of the GesSOI and GeSOI substrate are illustrated in Figure 3.2 (a) and (b), respectively. Thereby, the different surface morphologies of the two substrates is evident along with the overall smoother surface of the GeSOI stack, despite the large lattice mismatch. Furthermore, no indication of pinholes or other dislocations are visible for both material systems, even on large scan areas. Further details about the manufacturing process are to be published by C.Wilflingseder et al., but were not available at the time of writing this thesis. Similar work considering the growth of thick SiGe layers has been published in [45].

3.1.2 Fabrication Steps: From Nanosheet to Top-Gates

Having introduced the base-substrate stacks in the previous section, Section 3.1.1, out of which the nanosheets are structured in a top down fashion, this section will cover the fabrication process, as depicted in Figure 3.3. Section 3.1.2.1 starts with the definition of the nanosheet and the removal of excess material surrounding it. Followed by Section 3.1.2.2, covering the growth or deposition of the gate dielectric, which is either SiO₂ or SiO₂/ZrO₂. Next in Section 3.1.2.3, the source and drain pads are defined along with a connection of these to the nanosheet. Subsequently, the Al-Ge exchange process is discussed in Sec-

CHAPTER 3. EXPERIMENTAL TECHNIQUES

tion 3.1.2.4. As a last step, the metal top-gates are placed over the metal-semiconductor junctions and on top of the remaining Ge channel region. The fabrication process is also visualized in Figure 3.3 (a) to (i), showing the device at different stages during the process-flow. A cross section of a resulting TTG device is shown in Figure 3.4.



Figure 3.3: Fabrication process steps with illustrations of the sample at different stages during fabrication. The illustrations in subfigure (a) to (i) were adapted from [29].

3.1.2.1 Nanosheet Patterning

The first fabrication step mentioned in Figure 3.3 is the formation of the nanosheets in a top-down approach. As the name already says, the nanosheets a defined from the top downward in order to making use of the underlying material stack of the base-substrates shown in Figure 3.1. This fabrication step can be divided into two parts, namely a lithography step and sequential reactive-ion etching (RIE), as written in Figure 3.3 (1).

The lithography step itself can further be separated into three parts which all comprise the photoresist, namely the resist application, resist exposure and resist development. The sample, which only consists of the base-substrate at this point, as illustrated in Figure 3.3 (a), is first cleaned, than an image reversal photoresist (AZ5214) is spun on and softbaked at 100°C for 60s. Afterwards, the photoresist exposed, which is done by a laserwriter (HIMT MLA150) with a dose of $140J/cm^2$. The defined nanosheets are $10\mu m$ long and 700nm wide, however the width is decreased by optical effects and under-etching, resulting in widths between 350 to 500nm. Furthermore, the nanosheets are not just strait lines, but have larger areas at the ends. This results in a larger interface areas of the Ge and the later fabricated Al drain and source pads, as discussed in Section 3.1.2.3, and provide a more reliable Al diffusion for the hetero-junction formation described in Section 3.1.2.4. After exposure, the photoresist is developed in developer (AZ726MIF) for 17s and rinsed with water afterwards.

Next, the defined nanosheet is released from the stack by RIE (Oxford Instruments PlasmarPro100 Cobra) with SF_6/O_2 for 50s, removing the surrounding layers of Si and Ge down to the BOX. The residual resist on the sample is removed by plasma incineration (Pink V10-G) for 300s at 300W, followed by rinsing with acetone and isopropanol.

The current state of the sample is illustrated in Figure 3.3 (b), showing one freestanding nanosheet with the initial stack from the base-substrate down to the BOX. This first fabrication step is the same for all samples presented in this thesis, since it is independent of the used base-substrate and the later applied dielectric.

3.1.2.2 Gate Stack Formation

The nanosheets fabricated in the previous step require a dielectric layer, in order to electrically separate the conductive channel from the top-gates, which will be fabricated in the last fabrication step in Section 3.1.2.5. The fabricated gate stack consists of either a SiO₂ layer or a SiO₂ with a ZrO₂ layer atop, making this the only fabrication step in which the samples introduced in the results and discussion chapter in Chapter 4 differ from each other. The deposited dielectric layer(s) cover the whole wafer, as depicted in Figure 3.3 (c) in light green. However, it has to be mentioned, that the exposed Ge on the sides of the nanosheet, illustrated in Figure 3.3 (b) in gray and orange, also oxidize. A homogeneous coverage of the nanosheet top and sides with high quality SiO₂ is desirable, since the top-gate metal wraps around the sheet. Nativity a Ge oxide layer will form on the exposed Ge sidewalls, which is preferably overgrown with a SiO₂ layer from the Si capping and Si buffer layer.

The SiO₂ layer is grown for each device, no matter if a high-k dielectric is grown on top, because of the superior electrical property mentioned in Section 2.1.2 along with reduced interface states if compared to a Si or Ge/ZrO_2 interface [73]. This is also the reason for

the Si capping layer, shown in dark gray in Figure 3.1, out of which the SiO_2 is formed and to prevent the formation of Ge oxide with a rather poor electric behavior as discussed in Section 2.1.2.1.

The omega-shaped SiO₂ passivation of the Ge nanosheet is formed by dry thermal oxidation at 900°C for 180s, resulting in an approximately 5nm thick SiO₂ layer. The thickness may vary for each sample and was estimated with another test sample, which was oxidized at the same time. The ZrO₂ is deposited by ALD with TDMA-Zr and H₂O as precursor gases and N₂ as carrier at an reactor temperature of 250°C. The exact amount of cycles and the estimated thickness, again measured on a test sample, are given in Section 4.2.1.

3.1.2.3 Source and Drain Deposition

The formation of the source (S) and drain (D) pads is discussed in the third fabrication step shown in Figure 3.3. This process step can be split into four parts, consisting of a lithography step, define the S/D pad regions, the removal of dielectric in the S/D pad area, the deposition of Al and finally the lift-off where the excess metal is removed.

The lithography process is similar to the one used for the nanosheets in Section 3.1.2.1, however this time the desired S/D pad regions are exposed and developed, as illustrated in Figure 3.3 (d). The nanosheet is however still covered by the dielectric layer, shown in light green, which is removed in the next step either by wet chemical or physical etching, depending on the used dielectric. Only if the dielectric is removed completely, a good interface between the Al S/D pads and the Ge channel is formed. For samples with a SiO₂ dielectric the oxide is removed by a HF-dip in buffered HF (BHF 7:1). This process can however not be used for samples with ZrO_2 layers, due to low etch rates. Therefore the ZrO_2 and underlying SiO₂ layer are etched physically by RIE with SF₆/Ar. Due to the low selectivity of physical etching in comparison to wet chemical etching a well established process is needed, in order to not etch away parts of the contacting area of the nanosheet. The desired etching result is shown in Figure 3.3 (e) with an exposed nanosheet, in comparison to (d) before the etching.

The third part is the deposition of Al. Therefore, 125nm of Al are sputtered (Creavac CREAMET) over the whole sample as depicted in Figure 3.3 (f) in blue. Last but not least the underlying photoresist, shown in Figure 3.3 (f) in red, is removed by a lift off process in acetone. Thereby the access Al on top of the resist is also removed, resulting in S/D pads on top of the BOX which contact the nanosheet, as illustrated in Figure 3.3 (g).

3.1.2.4 Metal-Semiconductor Junction Formation

As discusses in the theory Section 2.4 of the RFET, a reproducible and reliable, abrupt metal-semiconductor junction is needed and can be realized by Al-Ge diffusion as described in Section 2.3 and [50, 54, 74]. This brings us to the fourth step in our fabrication

process in Figure 3.3, the formation of the metal-semiconductor junction by thermally induced diffusion. Therefore, a rapid thermal annealing (RTA) system heats up the sample to $500^{\circ}C$ in a forming gas (N₂-H₂) atmosphere. The duration depends on the desired Ge segment length, depicted in Figure 3.3 (h), which should remain after the annealing step or in other words, which should not be replaced by Al. If the duration is chosen too long, the entire nanosheet is exchanged with Al. To prevent this from happening, subsequent annealing steps, which do not influence each other, as discussed in Section 2.3, are performed with an intermediate optical examination of the Ge segment. The diffusion is made more reliable, due to the bigger Al/Ge interface areas mentioned in Section 3.1.2.1.

After the desired Ge length is reached, the locations of the Al-Ge interfaces are measured optically, because the top-gates fabricated in the next step, in Section 3.1.2.5, must be placed over those, to enable good electrical controllability as discussed in Section 2.4. The Ge segment width is furthermore needed for the calculation of the current density. For the samples presented in this thesis the Ge segment lengths vary between 700nm to $3.5\mu m$ for annealing durations between 180s to 250s. Note that this process is independent of the gate dielectric and therefore the same for all presented samples.

3.1.2.5 Top-Gate Metal Deposition

The last step in the process flow illustrated in Figure 3.3 is the fabrication of the omegashaped Ti/Au top-gates, which were fabricated atop of the Al-Ge-Al heterostructures, using a combination of laser lithography, electron beam lithography, Ti/Au evaporation and lift-off techniques.

The different device architectures, introduced in Section 2.4 of the RFET chapter, require one, two, three or four top-gates. Depending on the necessary resolution either laser lithography or electron beam lithography (EBL) is used. For devices with one top-gate (STG) the laser lithography is used with the same procedure as introduced in Section 3.1.2.1 of the nanosheet patterning. For devices with more than one top-gate (DTG, TTG and 4TG) the polarity-gate needs to be placed precisely over the Al-Ge junction, in order to manipulate the injection barrier efficiently. These requirements can no longer be met by laser lithography reliably. For that purpose, an EBL (Raith e-LiNE) is used, possessing a high resolution for smaller structures at the expensive of a longer write time. For EBL a polymethylmethacrylat (PMMA) resist (AR-P 679.04) and a suitable developer are used. The other process steps, like the spin coating of the resist and lift-off of the excess metal, are the same for both laser lithography and EBL.

After development, 10nm of titanium (Ti) and 100nm of gold (Au) are deposited via electron-beam evaporation (Plassys meb550s) over the whole sample, on top of the dielectric layer which also surrounds the nanosheet as indicated in Figure 3.3 (g). Note, that the channel work function will be set by the 10nm thick Ti layer, covering the channel oxide. Au on the other hand, will result in better electrical contacts, since the probing needles are also made out of Au. The lift-off process removes the underlying resist and excess metal, resulting in a finished device as shown in Figure 3.3 (i). It has to be pointed out that in Figure 3.3 (i) and Figure 3.4 both Ti and Au are shown as one yellow layer, in both cases for a TTG architecture.



Figure 3.4: Illustration of a fabricated RFET as cross section, with thicknesses and materials of each region. Shown for a TTG with two polarity-gates (PG) and one control-gate (CG). Layer thicknesses not to scale.

In Figure 3.4 a sketch of a TTG cross section is illustrated, possessing two polarity-gates overlapping the Al-Ge junctions and one control-gate over the remaining Ge segment. Furthermore, the described Al-Ge diffusion, discussed in Section 2.3 of the theory chapter, is highlighted by a dashed black box, showing the exchanged area. It also has to be pointed out that, the Si capping layer is fully oxidized away, as described in the respective fabrication step in Section 3.1.2.2. This becomes evident when comparing the cross sections of the base-substrate shown in Figure 3.1 and of the fabricated RFET in Figure 3.4.

A fabricated sample, following the steps mentioned in this section, consists of 60 individually controllable RFET devices possessing different architectures. The typical number of STGs, DTGs, TTGs and 4TGs of each fabricated sample are given in Table 4.2. Thereby, the exact number and location on the chip varied from sample to sample, due to slightly different Ge segment lengths of each device. Shorter Ge segments were used for STGs, intermediate segments for DTGs and TTGs and long ones for 4TGs.

3.2 Electrical Characterization

In the previous section, Section 3.1, the used fabrication process was discussed along with the fabrication differences for each sample. The following section will cover the electrical characterization methods for RFETs and outline differences to conventional MOSFET characterization. First the used measurement setup in Section 3.2.1 is described along with typical measurement settings which were taken for the electrical measurements. Followed by a review of key aspects for RFET devices in Section 3.2.2. How these individual features are extracted and identified from the electrical measurements are described in the individual sections of each measurement technique from Section 3.2.3 to 3.2.8. Last but not least, the calculations of the automated analyses-script are covered in Section 3.2.9. The used measurement techniques for the characterization of the nanosheet RFETs are based on the Book *Semiconductor Material And Device Characterization* by D.K. Schroder [75].

3.2.1 Measurement Setup

For all measurements presented in this thesis one and the same measurement setup was used, consisting of a Keithley 4200-SCS semiconductor characterization system in combination with four source measurement units (SMUs), a Cascade Summit 11000 AP four arm needle prober, shown in Figure 3.5 (a), an optical microscope along with a heat-/cool-and moveable stage which was regulated by a ERS Electronic SP72 300 temperature controller, crucial for the temperature investigations presented in Section 4.3 of the Results and Discussion chapter.



Figure 3.5: In (a) the cascade Summit 11000 AP four arm needle proper with SMUs and microscope used to contact the devices under test is shown. Subfigure (b) and (c) demonstrate the contacting and naming convention of the SMUs for a STG and TTG measurement, respectively. The illustrations in subfigure (b) and (c) were adapted from [29].

The needles of the probing station were placed on the device pads which were connected with the SMUs according to the sketch shown in Figure 3.5 (b) and (c) for an STG and TTG device. Fo an STG characterization only three SMUs were connected to drain, source and the top-gate, as shown in Figure 3.5 (a). While for DTG and TTG measurements an additional SMU was necessary for the added polarity-gate connection, as depicted in Figure 3.5 (c). 4TGs required yet another SMU for the added control-gate, however the probing station only has four SMUs. Therefore, a Keithley 2700 digital multimeter was used as constant voltage source for the polarity-gate voltage, since only the voltage of input A and B (or CG1 and CG2) was varied during one measurement, as described in Section 3.2.6. The drain and source were connected to the remaining two SMUs. The left pad connection of the nanosheet was usually the drain, see Figure 3.5 (b) or (c) and Figure 2.7, if not state otherwise. For the sake of completeness it has to be mentioned that the currents and voltages of the respective connections have been indexed with the connection name, e.g. I_{CG} and V_{CG} .

3.2.1.1 Measurement Settings

This subsection will give an overview of the measurement procedure, from maiden to temperature run, and outline some conventions which where taken. After fabrication every device on one sample was characterized with at least one transfer characteristic, consisting of a p- and n-mode measurement for DTG and TTG devices, at a suitable bias and top gate voltage for this sample. The suitable voltages for each sample were ascertained by a hand full of symmetrical and asymmetrical transfer measurements along with top-gate leakage current measurements for two or more devices. Usually, one device of each sample, possessing a different oxide thickness and composition, was deliberately destroyed in order to find out the gate oxide breakdown voltage by ever increasing top-gate voltages (V_{TG} or V_{CG} and V_{PG}) and simultaneous leakage current measurements. After that a safe working voltage, 2 - 3V lower than the breakdown voltage, for TG or CG and PG was found along with a suitable bias voltage and symmetry. The remaining devices where characterized after these settings. After evaluation of all devices, the best three of one architecture were chosen for an in depth temperature behavior characterization from room temperature to $125^{\circ}C$ in $20^{\circ}C$ steps, see Section 4.3.

Following some conventions, which apply to all presented measurements, if not stated otherwise:

Measurement Direction: For STG's the start voltage is lower than the end voltage $(V_{TG_{start}} < V_{TG_{end}})$, thus the measurement starts with the hole and ends with the electron conduction for negative and positive top-gate voltages respectively.

For DTG's, TTG's and 4TG's the measurement direction is from on- to off-state, hence for p-mode the start voltage is lower than the end voltage $(V_{TG_{start}} < V_{TG_{end}})$ and the other way around for n-mode $(V_{TG_{start}} > V_{TG_{end}})$.

Note that $V_{TG_{end}}$ is the end voltage of one sweep direction of a double measurement.

Continuous Measurements: The sweeping parameter, being V_{TG} , V_{CG} , V_{PG} , V_D , V_S or any other parameter, is scanned thru continuously from one value to the next without an interruption. Pulsed measurements, where the sweeping parameter is set to a base voltage ,usually 0V, in between two values are not presented in this thesis.

- **Single/Double Measurements:** A single measurement represents the singular passing from start to end value. While a double measurement stands for forward and backward measurement from start to end and back to start again.
- **Back-Gate Voltage:** The back-gate, consisting of the Si-handle layer and the BOX as dielectric, discussed in Figure 3.1 and Section 3.1.1, is kept floating during all measurements, if no stated otherwise. A shift towards lower or high threshold voltages can be achieved by applying a positive or negative voltage at the back-gate, hence tuning the symmetry. This however comes with the cost of decreased/increased on-state currents.

3.2.1.2 Bias Direction and Symmetry

The bias voltage is defined as the voltage which is applied along the channel. In the case of a FET/RFET this is the drain-source voltage V_{DS} . If the drain potential is set to an arbitrary value, for instance $V_D = 2V$ and the source potential to $V_S = 0V$, the overall bias is $V_{DS} = 2V$ and **asym**metrical because $V_D \neq -V_S$. For a drain voltage of $V_D = 1V$ and a source voltage of $V_S = -1V$ the overall bias is also $V_{DS} = 2V$, however the bias is **sym**metrical because $V_D = -V_S$. In the following sections, especially in Chapter 4 presenting the measurement results, the bias will be abbreviated with V_{DS} and sym/asym, for a symmetrical or asymmetrical bias respectively.

Furthermore, the bias direction is, if not stated otherwise, not flipped for p- and n-mode measurements of TTGs and 4TGs, thus V_{DS} and therefore the current direction stays the same for both modes. This makes TTG band bending directly comparable with that of an STG and would result in a same sign current independent of the mode, which can be useful for some applications. However, for FET's commonly all voltage directions, including V_{DS} or if a positive value is desired V_{SD} , are flipped for p-mode FET devices. The influence of a flipped bias $V_{SD} = -V_{DS}$ for both p- and n-mode is evident from Output characteristics presented in Figures 4.7 and 4.14 and is represented by a horizontal symmetry.

Note, that for DTG devices the bias direction is always flipped, unless stated otherwise, thus $V_{DS_N} = -V_{DS_P} = V_{SD_P}$. Otherwise an ambipolar behavior is observable for example for the p-mode if the bias is positive, as explain in Section 2.4.3. This can be observed for polarity-gate characterizations of DTG's discussed in Section 4.3.2.

3.2.2 Key Aspects of RFETs

Since RFETs are somewhat different, but on the other hand also quite similar to conventional FETs, the emphasis of the electrical measurements and the resulting conclusions maybe be different for every reader, depending on the individual background. This subsection will give an overview of the key device aspects which were considered in this work, in order to form a common ground for the upcoming measurement evaluations in Chapter 4. In order to efficiently analyze a bunch of devices a evaluation script, introduced in Section 3.2.9, extracting most of the following key aspects, was implemented. Therein, parameters like the averaging window and the threshold voltage extraction method are discussed. A *good* device should fulfill all, or as many aspects as possible, without failing to achieve one aspect totally. Note, that the following list is not sorted by any means.

Key Aspects of RFET devices:

- **On/On Symmetry:** Ratio between the mean on-state current in p- and n-configuration. Always given as ratio ≥ 1 - no specific order for nominator or denominator, whereby p-mode is typically higher in on-state current for Ge devices. Written as On/On. Usually extracted from Transfer characterizations, Section 3.2.3.
- **Off/Off Symmetry:** Ratio between mean off-state current in p- and n-configuration. Always given as ratio ≥ 1 . Written as Off/Off, however generally not explicitly given. Usually extracted from Transfer characterizations, Section 3.2.3.
- **On/Off Ratio:** Ratio between mean on- and off-state current for each mode. Always given as ratio ≥ 1 . Written as On/Off p or On/Off n. Usually extracted from Transfer characterizations, Section 3.2.3.
- V_{th} Symmetry: Offset of threshold voltage (V_{th}) for p- and n-configuration relative to the center top- or control-gate voltage, which is $V_{TG/CG} = 0V$ in this work. Written as individual threshold voltage for each mode, $V_{th} p$ or $V_{th} n$, but evaluated as absolute difference between each threshold voltage. Usually extracted from Transfer characterizations, Section 3.2.3.
- Subthreshold Slope: A similar subthreshold slope for both p- and n-mode is needed in order to accomplish high On/On symmetries with a adequate V_{th} symmetry. Written as STHS p, and STHS n for the respective mode. Usually extracted from Transfer characterizations, Section 3.2.3.
- Bias Direction Symmetry: On- (and off-state) currents symmetry depending on the applied bias direction in each mode. Note, that V_{DS} can be applied symmetrically $(V_D = -V_S)$ or asymmetrically $(V_S = 0)$. Not explicitly written. Usually extracted from Output characterizations, Section 3.2.4.
- **Hysteresis:** Area spanned between on- to off- and off- to on-state, other direction also possible, sweep during an Transfer measurement. For the sake of simplicity and comparability the hysteresis is calculated as the difference between V_{th} from on- to off- and V_{th} from off- to on-state. Written as individual hysteresis for each mode, Hyst.p or Hyst.n. Usually extracted from Transfer characterizations, Section 3.2.3.

- **Polarity-Gate Symmetry:** Offset of V_{th} for p- and n-configuration at varying V_{PG} and constant V_{CG} relative to the center polarity-gate voltage, which is $V_{PG} = 0V$ in this work. Not explicitly written. Usually extracted from Polarity-gate characterizations, Section 3.2.5.
- **Top-Gate Leakage Current:** Leakage current of the top gate electrode(s). Not specified if from the channel to top-gates or between top gates themselves. For STG I_{TG} , DTG and TTG I_{PG} and I_{CG} , 4TG I_{PG} , I_A and I_B are written. Usually only measured at the first Transfer characterization of each device, Section 3.2.3.

3.2.3 Transfer Characteristic

A transfer measurement, or often also referred to as I_DV_G curve, displays the absolute drain current, often logarithmic absolute drain current, over the changing top-gate voltage V_{TG} (STG) or control-gate voltage V_{CG} (DTG or TTG) on the ordinate and abscissa respectively. The bias voltage V_{DS} is kept constant during one sweep, as well as the polarity-gate voltage V_{PG} for DTG, TTG and 4TG devices. A transfer measurement with top-gate leakage currents is usually the first measurement done on a maiden device, because it gives a first glance on six key aspects given in Section 3.2.2, namely the On/On-, Off/Off-symmetry and On/Off ratio along with the V_{th} symmetry, hysteresis and the top gate leakage current.

3.2.4 Output Characteristic

For an output characterization the top-gate voltage, being V_{TG} for STG or V_{CG} for DTG and TTG devices, is kept constant during one measurement while the bias voltage and direction is changed. Note that the symmetry of the bias is not changed during one measurement. Usually not one single top-gate voltage is characterized, but several resulting a multitude of curves. Output measurements can be visualized as conventional line plots or as colormaps, where the absolute drain current |I(D)| is displayed as color gradient over the varying bias and top-gate voltage V_{TG}/V_{CG} on the abscissa and ordinate, respectively. From these plots the bias symmetry for contrary bias directions for STG and TTG can be extracted. In an ideal case the mirror plane is located at zero bias $V_{DS} = 0V$. This is however not possible for DTG devices, due to the explained reverse operation mode discussed in Section 2.4.3. Note that the bias is also applied symmetrically or asymmetrically as discussed in Section 3.2.1.1 and will also be abbreviated accordingly.

Broadly speaking, the output characterization is a two parameter sweep. In an inner loop the bias is varied, while the top-gate voltage is changed in an outer loop. Transfer characteristics at varying bias voltages and directions put together into one colormap could also have the same appearance as an output measurement. However, the inner and outer sweeping parameters are flipped for the two measurements.

3.2.5 Polarity-Gate Spectroscopy

As the name describes, the polarity-gate characterization illustrates the device behavior in dependence of the polarity-gate voltage for different control-gate voltages. The measurement is usually performed in a two parameter sweep, with the control-gate voltage in the inner and the polarity-gate in the outer loop. The applied symmetrical/asymmetrical bias voltage V_{DS} is constant during the measurement and is abbreviated accordingly.

3.2.6 Multi Control-Gate Measurements

Multi-control-gate characterizations address the wired logic device behavior of 4TG's, depending on the voltage applied to the control-gates CG1 and CG2, see chapter Section 2.4. Therefore, CG1 and CG2 are varied in a two parameter sweep fashion, with CG1 in the inner- and CG2 in the outer-loop. The polarity-gate voltage is kept constant during the measurement and specifies the preferred mode, being p-mode, logical NOR, or n-mode, logical AND, along with a steady bias direction and voltage. In this work CG1 and CG2will be termed A and B respectively, since wired AND and NOR gates were investigated. For these logic gates a symmetric behavior is preferable as input A and B should be interchangeable with each other. Furthermore, symmetric and sharp defined on- and off-states, later referred to with L and H, standing for low- and high-current region, are desired.

3.2.7 Effective Schottky-Barrier Height

Since the effective Schottky barrier height (eSBH) of a metal-semiconductor heterojunction is determined by the material compositions used as discussed in Section 2.3, an estimation of the formed barrier height, especially for new material combinations, is of great interest. Therefore, an effective Schottky barrier height estimation using a current temperature approach or I/V(T)-approach presented in the book of Schroder[75] is carried out. The simplifications made in Section 2.3 for the estimation of the barrier height are also valid for the eSBH assessment, if the barrier height is greater than k_BT at room temperature $(\approx 26mV)$ and if barrier-lowering effects due to excessive bias voltages are neglectable [28, 75, 76].

Since the presented devices in this thesis consist of two metal-semiconductor junctions in a Al-Ge-Al system and the afore mentioned estimation methods are applied for conventional single junctions, the required activation energy for a flow of charge carriers can be approximated by the effective SBH (eSBH). Since the current through the device consists of a combination of thermionic-emission and field-emission, as introduced in Section 2.3.1, which either go over or thru the barrier and are indistinguishable by measurement, the total current is used for the eSBH estimation. Further complications arise if the applied voltages at the different top-gates are taken into account, which effect the barrier height along with their charge carrier injection. As a result, finding a physically suitable model describing all effects is difficult. Therefore, the presented results are only a rough estimation of the actual barrier height. The required device inputs are taken from Output characteristics which were measured over temperature, starting at room-temperature (T = 295K) and going up to T = 400Kin 20K steps. The eSBH estimations are calculated out for STGs, since the single topgate arrangement results in a less complex electrostatic configuration and therefore better approximations. Furthermore, only positive bias directions are considered. Details about the underlying theory, the applied estimation methods and how the used calculation script worked, can be found in [29]. The eSBH estimations of the STG devices fabricated in the context of this thesis are presented in Figure 4.8.

3.2.8 Effective Activation Energy

An extension of the before introduced effective Schottky barrier height (eSBH) is the effective activation energy (eAE) estimation. In contrast to the eSBH, where the barrier height is estimated at the zero-bias point $V_{DS} = 0V$ extrapolation, the effective activation energy indicates the required energy of a charge carrier in order to surpass the modulated barriers over the applied bias voltage. The eAE is calculated in the same way as the eSBH presented in Section 3.2.7 and [59], however without the extrapolation towards the zero-bias point. As a result, the same output measurements over temperature are the starting point of the eAE calculations. Further details about the used methods are given in [29, 59].

The eAE plots presented in this thesis will be presented as 2D colormap, where the controlgate voltage V_{CG} and drain-source bias V_{DS} are depicted on the abscissa and ordinate, respectively. The estimated effective activation energy is represented by the overlaying color scheme. In this thesis eAE are only presented for TTG device architectures. As a result, two separate eAE plots, one for each mode, are depicted. Note that the polarity-gate voltage is constant during the underlying measurement. The resulting eAE estimations of the TTG devices fabricated in the context of this thesis are presented in eAE Figure 4.16.

3.2.9 Device Evaluation

Since the graphical representation can be optically distorted by e.g. different axis scaling, thus preventing a qualitative comparison between different structures and simply because a large number of devices at different temperatures were measured, the raw data was analyzed. For this purpose a script was written in python which outputs the following key aspects according to Section 3.2.2: maximal absolute drain current $I_{D max}$ normalized to the nanosheet width W and current density $J_{D max}$ normalized to the nanosheet cross section $W \cdot H$ in $\frac{A}{\mu m^2}$ for p- and n-mode, On/On symmetry, On/Off symmetry for p- and n-mode, threshold voltage V_{th} for p- and n-mode, hysteresis for p- and n-mode and subthreshold voltage in $\frac{mV}{dec}$ for p- and n-mode. Note that the On/On symmetry along with the On/Off symmetries are taken from average on- and off-current values with varying averaging windows depending on the device architecture. Thereby, the STG's averaging window was set to 4 data points for both on- and off-current while for DTG's 20 and 10 and TTG's 30 and 20 on- and off-state current data points were averaged. The Off/Off

symmetry was not analyzed in the script, because the off-region currents were usually limited by the measurement resolution, hence no meaning full value would be obtained except for elevated temperatures.



Figure 3.6: Threshold voltage V_{th} and subthreshold slope STHS evaluation of an TTG device. Both (a) and (b) show the same transfer measurement in the same control-gate voltage range, varied between $V_{CG} = \pm 5V$ with the sweeping direction depending on the respective mode, as stated in Section 3.2.1.1. For (a) the absolute drain current $|I_D|$ is plotted on a linear scale, while for (b) on a logarithmic ordinate. In (a) the linear extrapolation illustrated by the dashed lines intersect the abscissa where the respective threshold voltages are indicated by small black vertical marks. In (b) the STHS is represented by the slope of the dashed lines. A symmetric bias voltage and direction of $V_{DS} = 2V$ is applied for both p- and n-mode. The illustration is generated by the evaluation script, hence the different style to all upcoming measurement results.

The threshold voltage V_{th} of the p- and n-mode were calculated according to the linear extrapolation (LE) method [75, 77]. As the name indicates, the threshold voltage is the interception of the abscissa, representing the top-gate voltage axis for V_{TG} or V_{CG} at $I_D = 0A$, with the linear extrapolation of the I_D/V_G curve at its maximum gradient or highest transconductance g_m value. An exemplary evaluation is shown in Figure 3.6 (a), where the threshold voltages V_{th} is given for the p- and n-mode indicated in red and blue, respectively. In addition the threshold voltage of each sweep direction, being either from on to off (on2off) or off to on (off2on), of the analyzed double sweep transfer measurement is given.

For the sake of comparability the hysteresis is calculated as the difference between the on to off and off to on threshold voltage of a double measurement. Since all devices were measured from on to off and back, as stated in Section 3.2.1.1, the measurement direction is not the same for p- and n-mode. As a result, the usual clockwise and counterclockwise hysteresis analysis and corresponding conclusions on the underlying physical effects are not applicable [78]. Therefore, a scheme introduced in [79], depending on whether the back sweep current (BSC) is lower or higher than the forward sweeping current. Lower BSC indicates a charge carrier trapping close to the channel while a higher BSC suggests mobile ions inside the dielectric layer [79]. For the given evaluations a higher BSC results in a positive sign for the hysteresis, while a negative values stand for a lower BSC hysteresis since $Hyst. = V_{th_{Off2On}} - V_{th_{On2Off}}$. Recall the mode independent sweeping direction for STGs, which are always varied from negative to positive and back top-gate voltages. For the example given in Figure 3.6 (a) the hysteresis for the p- and n-mode are both positive since the BSC is higher with values of $hyst_p = 0.01V$ and $hyst_p = 0.13V$.

For the sake of completeness, it has to be pointed out that severe diverging on to off and off to on sweep slops could lead to a large displacement of the calculated threshold voltage V_{th} resulting in a wrong value and sign for the determined hysteresis value. Therefore, a visual inspection is also indispensable.

The subthreshold slope STHS puts a top-gate voltage change (in mV) and a current increase/decrease by a factor of 10 (in decades) into relation. Therefore, indicating how fast a transition from low to high current state, and vice versa, is possible. As the name states, this approximation is valid for top-gate voltages below the threshold voltage or in the region of weak inversion [28]. Therefore, only the current range between on- and off-state was analyzed by the script. Thereby, the subthreshold slope is the reciprocal subthreshold swing which is defined by [28], chapter 6.2, as:

$$S := \frac{dV_G}{d(log_{10}I_D)}$$

The maximal subthreshold slope is at the biggest gradient of the logarithmic current $|I_D|$ and is indicated by a small cross in Figure 3.6 (b), an exemplary transfer measurement of a TTG shown in a semi-logarithmic plot. The dashed line is a guidance for the eye and symbolizes the reciprocal maximum slope as the tangent in that point.

Note, that in Figure 3.6 the raw measurement data is shown by light red and blue dots, whereas the smoothed data point have a higher opacity. The data was only smoothed and therefore analyzed in the reigns of interest which excludes the noisy off currents for both analysis along with the on currents for the STHS extraction. Drain currents that were below a multiple, usually a factor of three, of the average on or off currents were removed. The statistical data and calculated values presented in Tables 4.3 to 4.9, 4.11 and 4.12 of the respective transfer measurements, are extracted with the before mentioned python script.



Chapter 4

Results and Discussion

Based on the theoretical aspects discussed in Chapter 2 and the introduced fabrication process and characterization techniques in Chapter 3, this chapter presents and discusses the obtained fabrication and measurement results of individual samples.

The first section introduces the three fabricated samples based on different substrates in combination with distinct gate passivation layers. Thereby, the realized structures are analyzed in terms of scanning electron microscope (SEM) images. The next section compares the electrical behavior of STG, DTG and TTG devices fabricated on each sample, highlighting the influence and benefits of the underlying material system on the device behavior. Thereby, the performance of one sample stands out and is further characterized in the subsequent section by extensive bias spectroscopy, comprising transfer and output characterizations over temperature for the related STG, DTG and TTG devices. Furthermore, the temperature dependent mode switching behavior of DTG and TTG devices is analyzed by polarity-gate measurements along with the effective Schottky barrier height and effective activation energy for STG and TTG devices, respectively. On the same sample, the performance of 4TG devices as two input wired logic gates is studied. The respective evaluation results are presented in the last section and puts the obtained parameters into perspective to other Al-Ge and Al-Si RFETs found in literature.

4.1 Fabricated Devices

As already mentioned in the introduction of this chapter, the electrical behavior of three different RFET samples was investigated. Thereby, the influence of a sSOI and SOI base-substrate along with the inherent strain exerted on the Ge layer was of interest. An overview of the layer structure with the corresponding layer thicknesses of Sample A, B and C is given in Figure 4.1, subfigure (a), (b) and (c). Note the absence of the Si-capping

which acted as a sacrificial layer for the SiO_2 formation.

An overview of the measurement results for single, double and triple top-gate architectures fabricated on each sample is given in the next Section 4.2.1.



Figure 4.1: Comparison of Sample A, B and C's layer structure. Sample A and B, shown in subfigure (a) and (b), are made out of the same base GesSOI substrate, while Sample C is fabricated from the GeSOI base-substrate. Note the added high-k dielectric layer for Sample B and C. Layer thicknesses are not to scale.

Sample A was fabricated out of a GesSOI substrate, composed of a sSOI base-substrate, a Si buffer and pure Ge layer along with a SiO_2 gate dielectric. The strained Si layer of the sSOI base-substrate reduces the lattice mismatch to the grown Ge layer.

Sample B was fabricated out of the same substrate as sample A, however with an additional ZrO_2 dielectric layer atop of the SiO₂.

Sample C on the other hand, is based on the GeSOI substrate, consisting of a SOI basesubstrate, a Si buffer and a pure Ge layer along with a SiO_2/ZrO_2 dielectric stack. The absence of a strained Si layer underneath the Si buffer, yields a bigger lattice mismatch for the grown Ge layer. Therefore, it is believed that the internal stress of the Ge layer of sample C is bigger than in sample A and B. A comparison between the samples and thus also the electrical effects of the induced strain inside the Ge channel is given in Section 4.2. Note the thinner BOX and thicker device layer for the SOI base-substrate used in Sample C.

A further comparison concerning the oxide fabrication and annealing time for the Al-Ge exchange process is given in Table 4.1. Note the same oxidation time for all three samples and the similar amount of ALD cycles for sample B and C. The total required annealing time in order to get the desired Ge segment length is slightly higher for sample C. This increase in time could result from the additional strain in the Ge layer, but also results in shorter Ge segments on average, as shown in Table 4.2.

Sample	Substrate	SiO ₂ : Oxidation time	ZrO ₂ : ALD cycles	Total anneal time	ЕОТ
Α	GesSOI	180 sec.	х	185 sec.	5 nm
В	GesSOI	180 sec.	30	190 sec.	5.4 nm
С	GeSOI	180 sec.	29	250 sec.	5.4 nm

Table 4.1: Fabrication differences and similarities between Sample A, B and C. Note, that no high-k dielectric layer was added to Sample A.

As mentioned in Section 3.1.2.2, the SiO₂ growth of all three samples was done by dry thermal oxidation in nitrogen at $T = 900^{\circ}C$. The ALD reactor temperature of $T = 250^{\circ}C$ for the ZrO₂ deposition was the same for both sample B and C.

The grown SiO₂ and ZrO₂ thicknesses were estimated by Ellipsometry measurements. Therefore an additional pure Si test-sample was added to the oven/reaction chamber and measured before and after growth/deposition. However, it has to be pointed out that the added Si test-samples had a different crystal orientation than the Si capping layer, resulting in different growth rates for the two samples [80]. Furthermore, the Si capping layer was only 3nm thick, resulting in a Si exhaustion for oxidation times of 3 min. [59].

All samples were annealed at $T = 500^{\circ}C$ in forming gas, starting the Al-Ge exchange process and forming the metal-semiconductor junctions, as described in Section 3.1.2.4. The stated total anneal time in Table 4.1 consists of three subsequent anneal steps for sample B and C and four steps for sample A, each with different times and intermediate optical Ge segment measurements.



Figure 4.2: False colored SEM images of different device architectures along with highlighted Germanium (Ge) segments in red, Aluminum (Al) source and drain contacts in blue, top-gate (TG) or control-gate (CG) in green and polarity-gate (PG) in yellow. Subfigure (a) shows the topgate arrangement of a STG with a Ge-segment length $L \approx 1 \mu m$ and a nanosheet width $W \approx 0.4 \mu m$, (b) a DTG with $L \approx 1.7 \mu m$ and $W \approx 0.5 \mu m$, (c) a TTG with $L \approx 1.6 \mu m$ and $W \approx 0.4 \mu m$ and (d) a 4TG with $L \approx 3 \mu m$ and $W \approx 0.4 \mu m$. The distance between the source and drain pad is $\approx 10 \mu m$, while the CG and PG distance varies between 150nm and 250nm.

Exemplary structures fabricated on sample B possessing different device architectures, as introduced in Section 2.4.2, are illustrated in Figure 4.2 showing false color SEM images at 20K magnification. Thereby, by taking a look at subfigure (c) and the narrow controlgate, the Ge-segment length dependent architectural choice becomes evident. The position of the Ge-segment is determined prior to the top-gate deposition, allowing a deliberate positioning of the respective gates, as discussed in Section 3.1.2.5. Note, that the physical connection of the polarity-gates of the presented DTG, TTG and 4TG devices is not shown in subfigures (b-d) and that the dark gray area surrounding the nanosheet is the underlying SiO₂ BOX of the respective base-substrate. The corresponding etching process is described in Section 3.1.2.1.

Table 4.2: Overview of the fabricated device architectures on each sample, along with the average nanosheet width and Ge segment length.

Sample	# STGs	# DTGs	# TTGs	# 4 TGs	avg. width $[\mu m]$	avg. length $[\mu m]$
Α	24	10	21	$3~(+2~5{\rm TGs})$	0.5	2.05
в	6	22	28	4	0.44	1.94
С	7	20	30	3	0.47	1.78

Each fabricated sample possesses 60 individually controllable RFET devices, which yet again have slightly different nanosheet widths and Ge segment lengths. Depending on the remaining Ge segment length after the Al-Ge diffusion, STG, DTG, TTG or 4TG were fabricated. Due to the required space of additional top gates, the amount of top gates decreases with decreasing segment lengths. The exact amount of each fabricated RFET device architecture for the respective sample along with the average nanosheet width and Ge segment length are given in Table 4.2.

4.1.1 Al-Si-Ge Heterostructure

Due to the off-centered fermi level pinning of the Al-Ge metal-semiconductor junction, as shown in Figure 2.6, a disparate hole and electron conduction for p- and n-mode is excepted, since the resulting Schottky-barriers are dissimilar. This is however not the case as demonstrated in the subsequent measurement, revealing p- and n-mode on/on symmetries as low as a factor of two. Therefore, it is believed that an Al-Si-Ge metal-semiconductor junction is formed from the Si sandwiched Ge layer, as presented for a similar material system with a sSOI channel layer [50]. Thereby, the added Si interlayer results in a mid band-gap fermi level pinning of the formed junction, enabling the formation of equal height Schottky-barriers for both holes and electrons. The Al-Si-Ge heterostructure is further motivated by the faster Si diffusion in Al, as stated in Table 2.3.

4.2 **Project Evolution**

In search of the most suitable RFET platform and gate stack composition, the electrical behavior of the afore introduced samples A, B and C was further investigated. This section will highlight the distinct differences regarding the transfer characteristics of each sample concerning the STG, DTG and TTG device architecture. The measurement results are presented in Figure 4.3 and Tables 4.3 to 4.5.



Figure 4.3: Comparison of transfer characteristics of STGs, DTGs and TTGs fabricated on sample A, B and C. The measurements of each device architecture were conducted with the same electrical and environmental conditions, being ambient air and room temperature ($T \approx 295K$). An additional equally scaled ordinate was added on the right side, simplifying a visual symmetry analysis. Furthermore, note the adapted ordinate for subfigure (c) ranging up to $100\mu A$.

For the comparison in Figure 4.3 the best performing device, according to the criteria discussed in Section 3.2.2, of each device architecture was compared to its counterpart on the other sample. Furthermore, the devices were operated in the same mode, thus had the same top-gate voltage range, polarity-gate voltage, bias direction and symmetry along with the same ambient temperature (room temperature, $T \approx 295K$) and environment. Hence, the measurements are directly comparable in terms of device performance. Note, that the following comparison between the three samples only focuses on the distinct differences, due to the lack of statistics. An in depth analysis of the measurement results of sample B is given in the next Section 4.3.

Subfigure (a) in Figure 4.3 shows the juxtaposition of sample A, B and C for the STG device architecture. Thereby, a shift of the off-point towards higher current values and lower top-gate voltages of sample C is the most prominent difference between the samples. This increase in off-current is somewhat compensated by increasing on-state currents, which however goes along with a reduced On/On symmetry. A shift towards lower top-gate voltages is also observed for sample A along with a low On/On symmetry. As a result, the device of sample B overall outperforms the other samples, as can also be seen in Table 4.3 by the green highlights. Solely the before mentioned on-state current of the STG on sample C outperform sample B along with the hysteresis of the other samples. Considering the hysteresis of the presented devices, sample A possesses the lowest values and overall smallest variation. Recall, that the On/On and On/Off symmetries are calculated from the mean on- or off-state currents of the respective mode.

Table 4.3: Evaluation results of STGs fabricated on Sample A, B and C. The highlighted values indicate the best performance among the three samples.

Sample	On/On	On/Off n	On/Off p	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ n \\ [V] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} V_{\rm th} \ p \\ [V] \end{array}$	Hyst. n [V]	Hyst. p [V]	STHS n [mV/dec]	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm STHS} \ {\rm p} \\ {\rm [mV/dec]} \end{array}$
Α	10.75	$4.29{\cdot}10^5$	$5.50 \cdot 10^4$	3.90	-4.30	0.06	0.04	643.7	-390.1
в	2.11	$5.62 \cdot 10^{6}$	$1.55 \cdot 10^{7}$	3.58	-3.55	0.15	0.36	402.7	-328.2
С	2.76	$1.69 \cdot 10^4$	$6.33 \cdot 10^4$	3.54	-3.87	0.73	0.01	722.6	-331.1

A comparison of the DTG measurements over the respective samples can be seen in Figure 4.3, subfigure (b). Thereby, a similar electric behavior of sample B and C is observed. Not only are the STHS similar but also the overall curvature of the transfer behavior. Since the slope of the p-mode is almost twice as large as that of the respective n-mode, the centered V_{CG} position of sample C results in a worse On/On symmetry. The n- and p-mode threshold voltage of sample B on the other hand, is shifted by approximately 0.2V and 0.3V respectively, resulting in an improvement in On/On ratio by a factor of more than 7. Furthermore, the p- and n-mode intersection of sample B and C is located in the off-state current, which is typical for DTG architectures or low V_{th} devices [58]. Sample A on the other hand, does not follow the trend. Not only is the overall curvature different but also the STHS along with an increased off-state current. Moreover, the V_{th} values are shifted far to the left, leading to excessively high On/On ratios of about 40. As seen in

Table 4.4, the DTG of sample B possesses the lowest On/On symmetry along with the most centered V_{th} values. Although, sample B is outperformed in various factors, as seen in Table 4.4, it overall has the best RFET performance, mainly due to its good On/On ratio and centered V_{th} symmetry.

Sample	On/On	On/Off n	On/Off p	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ n \\ [V] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ p \\ [V] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Hyst. n} \\ [\text{V}] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Hyst. p} \\ [\text{V}] \end{array}$	$\frac{\rm STHS \ n}{\rm [mV/dec]}$	$\frac{\rm STHS \ p}{\rm [mV/dec]}$
Α	44.02	$6.52 \cdot 10^{6}$	$8.70 \cdot 10^4$	3.75	-3.66	0.34	0.82	717.5	-359.6
В	3.50	$1.58 \cdot 10^{7}$	$9.26 \cdot 10^{7}$	4.05	-3.90	0.20	0.09	461.1	-271.7
С	24.01	$5.78 \cdot 10^{6}$	$1.89 \cdot 10^{8}$	4.17	-3.46	0.04	0.04	240.9	-163.6

Table 4.4: Evaluation results of DTGs fabricated on Sample A, B and C.

The TTG performance of the fabricated samples is compared in subfigure (c) of Figure 4.3. Yet again, sample B outperforms the other samples. Only the On/On current symmetry is higher for sample A. The exact evaluation results are given in Table 4.5. Optically the TTG transfer characteristic of sample B also stands out. Not only is the intersection point of the p- and n-mode centered at $V_{CG} \approx 0V$, it is also at the highest current value of the three devices. However, it has to be pointed out that the optical hysteresis of sample C is yet again the lowest. At this point the off-state current of sample A needs to be pointed out, which seems not to underpass $|I_D|=100$ fA, independent of the device architecture. In contrast to the STG and DTG evaluation results, sample C did not show the highest on-state current, neither for p- or n-mode.

Sample	On/On	On/Off n	On/Off p	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ n \\ [V] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ p \\ [V] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Hyst. n} \\ [\text{V}] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Hyst. p} \\ [\text{V}] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm STHS \ n} \\ {\rm [mV/dec]} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm STHS \ p} \\ {\rm [mV/dec]} \end{array}$
Α	2.28	$8.93 \cdot 10^5$	$5.14 \cdot 10^{6}$	0.19	-3.21	0.16	0.43	563.4	-316.9
В	4.64	$6.69 \cdot 10^{7}$	$1.23 \cdot 10^{9}$	0.77	-0.87	0.11	0.01	215.5	-163.5
С	7.07	$2.08 \cdot 10^{7}$	$2.48 \cdot 10^8$	0.98	-2.02	0.62	0.22	473.2	-275.0

Table 4.5: Evaluation results of TTGs fabricated on Sample A, B and C.

Comparing the evaluation results in Tables 4.3 to 4.5 for all three device architectures over the individual samples, shows that the GesSOI substrate in combination with a SiO_2/ZrO_2 gate stack used in sample B is best suitable as RFET platform for various device architectures. Not only are the devices of sample B more centered but also exhibit a higher on-state and lower off-state current. Comparing sample A and B with each other, it is evident that the added high-k dielectric layer on sample B results in a better electrical controllability along with a right shift of the transfer characteristic. The improvement in controllability can be justified with a growing electrical capacitance, as described in Section 2.1.2.2. As a result, equivalent band bending requires less voltage at the respective top-gate. Furthermore, leakage currents are reduced due to the thicker oxide layer. The shift in top-gate voltage is discussed in the next Section 4.2.1 and mostly depends on formed interface states. However, one disadvantage of sample B is the comparatively larger hysteresis.

A direct comparison between sample B and C outlines the influence of the pure Si device layer of the SOI base-substrate used in sample C. The consequently increased internal stress of the Ge layer and the influence on its electrical behavior are debated in Section 4.2.2. Considering the DTG and TTG measurements displayed in Figure 4.3 (b) and (c), the results lie between sample A and B in terms of on-state currents and V_{th} symmetry. For the STG device architecture, in subfigure (a), however, the on-state currents are higher than for sample A and B. This behavior though is accompanied by an increased off-state current and a negative V_{th} shift.

As a consequence of the measurement results discussed above, the electrical behavior of RFETs fabricated on sample B are further investigated. Therefore, the electrical transport phenomena of STGs, DTGs and TTGs over temperature are studied in the following Section 4.3 along with the capabilities of 4TGs as wired logic gates.

4.2.1 Electrical Influence of a SiO₂ and ZrO₂ Gate Dielectric

As seen in Figure 4.3 the samples with a SiO₂ gate dielectric only, exhibit a transfer characteristic which is shifted towards negative top-gate or control-gate voltages. This shift can be verified numerically by considering the respective threshold voltages of the pand n-modes. In order to counteract this offset in threshold voltages, a high-k dielectric can be added to the gate stack. Depending on the chosen dielectric layer different interface states between the SiO₂ and high-k dielectric interface are formed. These states can either favor holes, electrons or both, leading to a corresponding shift in V_{th} . Thereby, a combination of SiO₂ and ZrO₂ result in an increase of fixed negative charges, effectively shifting the I_D/V_G to the right or more positive top-gate voltages [81].

For the sake of completeness it has to be mentioned that the high-k dielectric layers were not directly deposited onto the semiconductor, but instead on top of SiO₂ forming the aforementioned SiO₂/ZrO₂ interface. This results in lower interface state densities close to the conducting channel and therefore to a reduced hysteresis [82].

Due to the obtained results of sample A, an additional high-k dielectric layer of ZrO_2 was added on top of the SiO₂ for samples B and C, resulting in a positive V_{th} shift, better electrical controllability, steeper STHS and less gate leakage.

4.2.2 Influence of Strain on the Electrical Characteristic

The influence of strain on the intrinsic carrier mobility of semiconductors has been known since the early 1950's [83, 84]. Thereby the externally applied or internal strain changes the carrier mobility. Note that this effect is depending on the crystal direction of the semiconductor and the flow direction of charger carriers [85]. In contrast to conventional FETs, where one transistor is either p- or n-type and therefore tailored for its specific charge carrier, RFETs must be optimized for both polarities.

Comparing the electrical behavior of sample B and C in Figure 4.3 the influence of the strained and unstrained base-substrate becomes evident. Thereby, sample B is fabricated out of a sSOI base-substrate possessing a strained Si device layer on top of which the Ge layer is grown with a Si buffer layer in between. Sample C on the other hand, has a SOI base-substrate with a pure Si device layer beneath the Ge layer, which was grown under the same MBE conditions. Since Ge has a larger lattice constant than Si, as stated in Table 2.1, the Ge grown atop of the pure Si device layer of Sample C is exposed to a higher lattice mismatch resulting in a higher internal stress of the grown layer in comparison to sample B with the strained Si device layer.

The observed higher p-mode on-state currents for both STGs and DTGs fabricated on sample C, can be traced back to increased hole mobilities due to the increased strain of the Ge layer [86–88]. The TTG measurements presented in Figure 4.3 (c) suggest a slight decrease of hole and electron mobility. Further investigations not only on the crystallographic orientation but also the amount of the exerted strain in dependence of the base-substrate need to be conducted in order to give a viable answer. However, the effect of the strained Ge layer is observable in the measurements at hand.

4.3 Ge on Strained Silicon on Insulator (GesSOI)

In this section the electrical behavior of a variety of RFET devices possessing different topgate architectures fabricated on Sample B (GesSOI with SiO₂ and ZrO₂) are investigated. Therefore, several STG, DTG and TTG devices were measured under the same conditions. The corresponding statistical results highlight the stability of the presented RFET platform. Furthermore, the influence of temperature on the electrical transport mechanism of RFETs was investigated. For this reason, transfer and output characteristics for three representative STG, DTG and TTG devices were measured over temperature, starting from room temperature ($T \approx 22^{\circ}C$) until $T \approx 127^{\circ}C$ in $20^{\circ}C$ steps. For DTGs and TTGs an additional polarity-gate characterization was added, illustrating the mode-switching behavior. The corresponding measurement results are presented in Sections 4.3.1 to 4.3.3, while the characterization techniques are explained in Section 3.2. Since the temperature was set in Kelvin on the respective temperature controller, subsequent measurement temperatures will also be given in Kelvin.

Before plunging into the individual device architecture investigation and temperature analysis, a comparison between the three main device architectures fabricated on the same sample needs to be considered. Figure 4.4 thereby not only highlights the advantages of each device architecture but also underlines the transport theory presented in Section 2.4.3.

As concluded in Section 2.4.2, discussing the RFET top-gate layouts, depending on the device architecture different features can be exploited, such as lower threshold voltages, higher on-state currents or an ambipolar I/V behavior, as shown in Figure 4.4. This is a result of the specific Schottky barrier modulation and control-gate variation, which is



Figure 4.4: Transfer measurements of STG, DTG and TTG devices fabricated on sample B/GesSOI with a SiO₂ & ZrO₂ gate dielectric. The STG and TTG were bias in a symmetric fashion, while the DTG was biased asymmetrically. The bias voltage however was the same for all devices with $V_{DS} = 2V$. The respective colored arrows indicate the sweeping direction of the device. Note the top-gate leakage current $|I_{TG}|$ depicted in cyan, which is perishing in the measurement resolution.

different across the particular architectures, making the junction transparent or blocking for holes and electrons, as described in Section 2.4.3 concerning band bending and the corresponding illustration in Figure 2.8. As a result, one device architecture may be better suited for the application than the other. Nevertheless, all three presented top-gate layouts feature high On/On symmetries, On/Off ratios of six orders of magnitude, only limited by the measurement resolution, and negligible top-gate leakage currents. The evaluation results of the discussed measurements containing the afore mentioned On/On symmetries and On/Off rations along with the respective V_{th} and STHS are given in Table 4.6.

Another detail to point out in Figure 4.4 is the hysteresis of the fabricated devices on Sample B. Thereby the colored arrows indicate the sweeping direction of the respective device. The visually determined back sweep current directions (BSC) and corresponding calculated signs given in Table 4.6 are in agreement with the presented evaluation method in Section 3.2.9.

4.3.1 Electrical Transport of Ge based SBFETs

Next the device performance between six different STG devices fabricated on sample B will be compared. Therefore, the transfer measurements of all STGs are illustrated in Figure 4.5 (a). The corresponding statistical evaluation is given in Table 4.11. An overview of the fabricated devices on sample B is given in Table 4.2.

Architecture	On/On	On/Off n	On/Off p	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ n \\ [V] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ p \\ [V] \end{array}$	Hyst. n [V]	Hyst. p [V]	STHS n [mV/dec]	STHS p [mV/dec]
STG	2.11	$5.09{\cdot}10^6$	$1.31 \cdot 10^{7}$	3.58	-3.55	-0.15	0.36	402.7	-328.2
DTG	2.13	$2.58 \cdot 10^{7}$	$7.76 \cdot 10^{7}$	3.82	-3.90	-0.25	0.09	384.1	-271.7
TTG	2.08	$1.91 \cdot 10^{8}$	$1.23 \cdot 10^{9}$	0.65	-0.88	0.14	-0.01	219.6	-163.5

Table 4.6: Evaluation results for a representative STG, DTG and TTG fabricated on sample B. The corresponding transfer characteristic is illustrated in Figure 4.4.

Considering the measurement results in Figure 4.5 (a), a coarse trend regarding on-state currents is observably. This also holds true for the p-mode STHS, resulting in a low standard deviation, as stated in Table 4.11. When it comes to the n-mode STHS and off-state current, the matter looks somewhat different. There the devices can be separated into two groups. Device 11, 21 and 37 stand out due to their low off-state current and therefore centered V_{th} . Thereby not only the On/On symmetry is improved, but also the STHS of the n-mode branch. The elevated off-state currents of device 27, 53 and 57 counteracts the desired device behavior, resulting in worse On/On symmetries, V_{th} values, n-mode STHS along with an overall asymmetric behavior for the p- and n-branch.

Analyzing the evaluation results in Table 4.11 for all STG devices a good On/On symmetry of around two, high On/Off ratios with more than five orders of magnitude and a low overall hysteresis of 0.15V and 0.38V are achieved. Despite the obvious shift in off-state currents, the mean threshold voltages are still relatively symmetrical with a delta of 0.2V. The total current densities on the other hand are lower than comparable results presented in [58].

The transfer behavior over temperature is shown in Figure 4.5 (b), starting at room temperature (T = 295K) and going up to $T \approx 127^{\circ}C$ or T = 400K. Note the second ordinate, representing the current density $|J_D|$ normalized to the nanosheet cross section. Thereby, a steady increase in both p- and n-mode on-state currents with higher temperatures is observed. This behavior is coupled to the increase in conductivity with temperature of semiconductors [28]. Thereby, the off-state current should also increase by an equal amount. This is however not the case, since it rises from around $|I_D| \approx 100 fA$ at T = 295K to $|I_D| \approx 100pA$ at T = 400K in comparison to the on-state current increase of not even on order of magnitude. This can be explained by the change in Fermi-Dirac distribution at the metal-semiconductor junction and the increasing in thermionic-field emission (TFE) current, representing the combination of both thermionic emission (TE) and field emission (FE) or tunneling currents [22, 28], as discussed in Section 2.3.1. In addition to the increase in off-state current, it also shifts towards more negative top-gate voltages at elevated temperatures, with T = 400K being the outlier with a slight right shift. Moreover, a gain in hysteresis is noticed with ascending temperatures, especially for the p-mode starting at almost none at room temperature. This increasing in hysteresis



Figure 4.5: GesSOI STG: Transfer investigation for a multitude of STG devices and temperature effects. (a) Transfer characteristics of six individual STG devices, all operated under the same electrical and environmental conditions. An additional equally scaled ordinate was added on the right side, simplifying a visual symmetry analysis. (b) Transfer behavior of device 11 at different elevated temperatures. Note the added current density $|J_D|$ axis on the right ordinate. Measurement details for (a) and (b): The top-gate voltage was varied in 50mV steps starting at $V_{TG} = -5V$ to +5V and back in a double sweep measurement. The bias voltage of V_{DS} was applied symmetrically to drain and source. In (b) the temperature was gradually increased in 20K steps, starting at T = 295K and going up to 400K.

with temperature can be described by an enlargement of the active trap region for a lower BSC or positive hysteresis value while a higher BSC or negative value suggests an increase in mobile ions inside the oxide [89].

While analyzing the evaluation results in Table 4.7, the previous visual inspection of Figure 4.5 is verified and extended. Thereby the interesting trend of gradual improving On/On symmetries with rising temperature stands out. The afore mentioned rising onand off-state current is also observed in increasing $|J_D|$ while On/Off ratios are decreasing with temperature. As a result, the transfer slops are getting flatter leading to higher STHS values for both n- and p-branch. Furthermore, rising temperatures contribute to a reduction in threshold voltage, while the V_{th} symmetry is not improved either. Interestingly, no clear trend for the p- and n-branch hysteresis is notable from the evaluation data, while the visual analysis showed a clear increase. At this point it is worth pointing out that the calculated value for the hysteresis is only considered at the respective threshold voltage. Further details are given in Section 3.2.9, discussing the evaluation script.

As described in Section 3.2.4, the output characterization puts the top-gate voltage V_{TG} , associated as input voltage, in perspective to the resulting drain current I_D in dependency of the applied drain-source bias V_{DS} . Therefore, the drain current I_D is measured at a

Temp. [K]	On/On	On/Off n	On/Off p	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ n \\ [V] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{V_{th}} \mathbf{p} \\ [\mathbf{V}] \end{array}$	Hyst. n [V]	Hyst. p [V]	STHS n [mV/dec]	STHS p [mV/dec]
295	2.20	$5.36{\cdot}10^6$	$1.43 \cdot 10^{7}$	3.66	-3.37	-0.15	0.36	407.5	-330.4
320	2.05	$6.65{\cdot}10^5$	$1.99 \cdot 10^{6}$	3.51	-3.39	0.02	0.33	470.1	-357.0
340	1.86	$1.04{\cdot}10^5$	$2.77{\cdot}10^5$	3.71	-3.34	-0.13	0.40	572.1	-376.1
360	1.47	$1.61 \cdot 10^4$	$3.14 \cdot 10^4$	3.47	-3.27	-0.19	0.36	687.1	-376.1
380	1.49	$1.02 \cdot 10^4$	$2.09 \cdot 10^4$	3.82	-3.26	0.36	0.45	598.5	-404.3
400	2.00	$1.45 \cdot 10^4$	$3.55 \cdot 10^4$	3.59	-3.09	0.14	0.42	528.6	-398.0

Table 4.7: GesSOI STG: Statistical temperature evaluation of an STG device possessing a nanosheet width $W \approx 390nm$ and a Ge segment length of $L \approx 0.95 \mu m$.



Figure 4.6: GesSOI STG Output characterization displayed as line plot (a) and colormap (b). The white dashed line along with the dark blue region mark the respective dominant charge carrier transport regime in subfigure (b).

TE ... Thermionic emission, TFE ... Thermionic-field emission, FE ... Field emission

variety of bias voltages V_{DS} and different top-gate voltages V_{TG} . The resulting measurement can either be displayed as line plot for each top-gate voltage over a varying bias voltage on the abscissa and the resulting absolute drain current on the ordinate, as shown in Figure 4.6 (a), or as colormap with the bias and top-gate voltages represented on the abscissa and ordinate respectively, whereas the absolute drain current is shown as color gradient, as depicted in Figure 4.6 (b).

Comparing the two illustrations methods in Figure 4.6 of one and the same measurement, different properties are highlighted in each plot. In the line plot representation the different gradients of the p- and n-branch are evident, however each measurement is overlapped by a multitude of others. This is not the case for the colormap representation, since every measurement for each top-gate voltage is vertical staked. The aforementioned difference in p- and n-branch slops can be distinguished by the pitch between two adjacent equipotential

surfaces, represented by the same color. Furthermore, the dominate transport regimes, as discussed in Section 2.3.1, are indicated. Thereby, thermionic-emission (TE) has the highest influence in the low-current region, while field-emission (FE) dominates the high-currents, whereas thermionic-field emission is located in the transition region in between. Note that further output characterizations will be shown as colormap.



Figure 4.7: GesSOI STG: Output investigation over temperature under same bias conditions. Note the backward bias direction for negative V_{DS} values.

Measurement details for (a), (b) and (c): Various top-gate voltages from $V_{TG} = -5V$ to +5V in 0.5V steps over a varying bias voltage starting from $V_{DS} = -2V$ to +2V in 0.02V steps applied in a symmetric fashion. Increasing temperature T = 295K for (a), T = 340K for (b) and T = 400K for (c).

The output characterizations for three distinct temperatures, T = 295K, 340K and 400K, are depicted in Figure 4.7 (a-c). Note that positive V_{DS} values indicate a forward bias direction while negative V_{DS} voltages stand for a backward direction, as discussed in Section 3.2.4. Since an STG device is analyzed, there is no distinction between p- and n-mode due to its ambipolar behavior.

Considering the three output measurements shown, both on- and off-state currents increase with rising temperature, which is in agreement with the previous findings of the transfer measurements. Worth pointing out is the visual pronunciation of this behavior, with an ever shrinking dark blue center and growing yellow sections at the border. Furthermore, the forward and backward bias symmetry, horizontal symmetry, is improving with temperature, especially for the n-branch being less symmetric in reverse bias at lower temperatures. The vertical symmetry in V_{TG} is improved with elevated temperatures likewise. Generally, an increase in $|I_D|$ with rising bias voltages, independent of its direction, is observed, which is in good accordance with the band model presented in Section 2.4.3. Furthermore, it is worth pointing out the obviously low $|I_D|$ current at $V_{DS} \approx 0V$.



Figure 4.8: GesSOI STG: Averaged effective Schottky barrier height estimation calculated from the output measurements from three devices. Note that the backward bias direction was not taken into account for the calculations.

As mentioned in Section 3.2.7 the effective Schottky barrier heights (eSBH), estimated from the output measurements over temperature of three STG devices, are presented in Figure 4.8. Thereby, the two Schottky barriers of the horizontal Al-Ge-Al cross section of the STG are abstracted into one. Remember, that the effective Schottky barrier height approximation is the extrapolation of the eAE estimation towards the zero-bias point. The blue or red background colors highlight the areas of positive and negative energy, respectively. Thereby, a negative energy stands for a transparent or ohmic like contact, as mentioned in Section 2.3.1 and [48, 50, 90].

The lowest current point in an STG transfer characteristic resembles the intrinsic state and is located at $V_{TG} \approx 0.5V$ for the three used devices, as shown in Figure 4.5 (a), and correlates with the maximum value of the estimated barrier height in Figure 4.8, marked by a dashed line. Lower effective barriers are obtained for negative or positive V_{TG} , showing the controllability of the single top. The observed temperature behavior of device 11 in Figure 4.5 (b) is also in good agreement with the calculated barriers. Thereby, the rise in off current can be explained by thermally excited charge carriers surpassing the barrier with an increase in temperature. On-state currents are however dominated by field-emission which are not as temperature dependent as the before mentioned thermionicemission, resulting in lower increases of the on-state currents over temperature [28, 91]. As discussed in Section 2.4.3 the charge carrier type depends on the respective mode of the RFET. As a result, not only electrons but also holes need to be considered when evaluating the estimated barrier. The *switch* from hole to electron barrier and vice versa takes place at the lowest current point of the transfer measurement, also highlighted by the black dashed line. This circumstance further complicates the estimation of the barrier height. Nevertheless, the obtained results are in good agreement with the data presented in literature [13, 91, 92].

4.3.2 Electrical Characteristics of Dual-Top-Gate RFETs

Similar to Section 4.3.1, this section will focus on the measurement results obtained for DTGs fabricated on sample B or the GesSOI platform with SiO_2 and ZrO_2 as dielectric. Therefore, eight DTGs were compared to each other and characterized over temperature.

Figure 4.9 (a) illustrates the transfer measurements of eight individual DTG devices. At first glance, all devices seem to have a fairly similar characteristic, which is also confirmed by low standard deviations in Table 4.11. At closer inspection however, slight variations, especially for the n-mode, are noticeable.



Figure 4.9: GesSOI DTG: Transfer investigation for a multitude of DTG devices and temperature effects. (a) Transfer characteristics of eight individual DTG devices, all operated under the same electrical and environmental conditions. (b) Transfer behavior at different elevated temperatures. Note the added current density $|J_D|$ axis on the right ordinate.

Measurement details for (a) and (b): Control-gate voltage applied from on- to off-state, $V_{CG} = \pm 5V$ to $\pm 5V$ in 50mV steps, in a double measurement. The polarity-gate and bias voltages were set to positive or negative voltages of $|V_{PG}| = 5V$ and $|V_{DS}| = 2V$. The bias was applied in an asymmetric fashion. For (b) the temperature of the sample was continuously increased from room-temperature to T = 400K.

All illustrated devices possess a low p-/n-mode intersection point which is additionally also close the center control-gate voltage V_{CG} . Furthermore, the V_{th} is also symmetric and only differs by about 0.2V for p- and n-mode. However, due to the steeper p-mode of around 300mV/dec, compared to approximately 450mV/dec for n-mode, lower n-mode on-state currents are reached. This unbalance is further enlarged by varying n-mode onsets voltages, resulting in On/On ratios as large as 30 for device 52 and 54. Nevertheless, both modes retain a low mean hysteresis of 0.24V and 0.07V for the respective n- and p-mode. Additionally, high current densities J_D of $10^4 A/\mu m^2$ are reached. The low offstate currents result in overall high On/Off ratios of six to seven orders of magnitude. However, it has to be pointed out that the off currents for p-mode are lower than its n-mode counterpart.

The temperature characterization consist of transfer and output measurements at elevated temperatures shown in Figure 4.9 (b) and Figure 4.10, along with polarity-gate evaluations, identifying the distinct operating regions in Figure 4.12. Furthermore, the results of the transfer measurements over rising temperatures are given in Table 4.8

Table 4.8: GesSOI DTG: Statistical temperature evaluation of a DTG device possessing a nanosheet width of $W \approx 400nm$ and a Ge segment length $L \approx 1.9 \mu m$.

Temp. [K]	On/On	On/Off n	On/Off p	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ n \\ [V] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ p \\ [V] \end{array}$	Hyst. n [V]	Hyst. p [V]	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm STHS \ n} \\ {\rm [mV/dec]} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm STHS \ p} \\ {\rm [mV/dec]} \end{array}$
295	3.67	$1.53 \cdot 10^7$	$7.97 \cdot 10^7$	4.15	-3.86	-0.20	0.05	487.5	-284.5
320	4.38	$4.16 \cdot 10^{6}$	$2.56{\cdot}10^7$	4.02	-3.82	0.04	0.19	525.8	-311.9
340	5.63	$1.41 \cdot 10^{6}$	$6.80{\cdot}10^6$	3.98	-3.77	-0.25	0.25	527.6	-333.8
360	5.52	$8.93{\cdot}10^5$	$5.42{\cdot}10^6$	4.06	-3.69	-0.25	0.22	599.0	-338.2
380	8.14	$4.16{\cdot}10^5$	$3.46{\cdot}10^6$	3.84	-3.33	0.56	0.28	487.9	-331.1
400	14.06	$1.59 \cdot 10^{5}$	$2.28 \cdot 10^{6}$	4.05	-3.15	-0.01	0.34	592.5	-299.9

Taking a look at the transfer measurements over temperature in Figure 4.9 (b) and the corresponding evaluation results in Table 4.8, an overall similar curvature and STHS is evident. Comparing the characteristics of p- and n-mode, an almost steady on-state is observed for n-mode, while p-mode seems to unfold with rising temperature. Thus, pmode on-state currents are increased, resulting in a decrease in On/On state symmetry with rising temperatures, starting at ratios of 3.7 and going up to 14. This is exactly the opposite behavior as for the STG in Section 4.3.1. Albeit, the increasing off-state currents with rising temperature are similar to the STG measurements and seem almost identical for both p- and n-mode. This could be justified with similar metal-semiconductor barriers for both holes and electrons. As for the STGs, the increase in off current is higher than the on-state current, leading to shrinking On/Off ratios. Similar to the STGs, this rise in off current is followed by flatter slopes, or higher STHS values for both p- and n-mode. Analogous to the STG, the sign of the n-mode hysteresis changes with temperature, while staying positive for the p-mode. Last but not least, the reason behind the emerging kink around $V_{CG} = 0V$ for the n-mode at elevated temperatures, resulting in higher p-/n-mode intersections is believed to depend on the corresponding band bending and possible thermionic-field emission currents at certain control gate voltages, as depicted in Figure 2.8, since it its only observed for DTGs.

The output characteristic of a DTG will be displayed differently in comparison to its STGs and also TTGs counterparts, as discussed in detail in Section 2.4.3. First, there is a distinction between p- and n-mode, which is set by the polarity-gate voltage. Second,



Figure 4.10: GesSOI DTG: Output investigation over temperature under same bias conditions. The reverse operating region is not displayed, as discussed in Section 2.4.3. Therefore, only positive or negative V_D values are shown for n- and p-mode, respectively.

Measurement details for (a-f): Asymmetric bias voltage decreased from $V_D = \pm 2V$ to 0V in 40mVsteps for various control-gate voltages starting from $V_{CG} = \pm 5V$ to $\mp 5V$ in 0.5V steps, applied from on- to off-state. In (a-c) the DTG was put into n-mode operation with a polarity-gate voltage of $V_{PG} = +5V$, while in (d-f) it was configured for p-mode with $V_{PG} = -5V$. The temperature was increased from room temperature to T = 400K in 20K steps, while only three temperatures of each mode are depicted.

the reverse operation region is not shown. Therefore, n-mode will only feature positive bias voltages, whereas for p-mode only negative biases are depicted. Note, that the source potential V_S is zero for both modes.

In Figure 4.10 (a-c) the n-mode ($V_{PG} = +5V$) output measurements are shown for room temperature, T = 340K and T = 400K. Comparing the on-state currents, there is a clear increase with temperature, as expected from the previous analysis and Section 2.4.3. As a result, the off-state region, shown in dark blue, shrinks and suggests a threshold voltage shift towards lower control-gate voltages. Furthermore, the on-state current seems to be bias independent for $V_{DS} > 1V$. This can be a result of a saturating electron current or an artifact of the colormap. Figure 4.10 (d-f) on the other hand show the same measurements however for p-mode, set by a negative polarity-gate voltage of $V_{PG} = -5V$ and a negative bias direction. The evident increase in on-state current with rising temperature is also visible here along with a shift towards lower control-gate and bias values, further expanding the on-region displayed in yellow. Thereby, the on-state current seems to bias independent from bias voltage as low as $|V_{DS}| > 0.5V$. This is however for sure caused by the colormap, since the p-mode on-state current exceeds $1\mu A$, as previously discussed.

Comparing n- to p-mode, a higher on current for p is noticeable. Furthermore, a stronger shift in n-mode V_{th} is implied, which is however not ratified by the evaluation of the transfer measurement in Table 4.8.



Figure 4.11: GesSOI DTG Polarity-gate characterization displayed as line plot (a) and colormap (b) with a negative bias voltage of $V_{DS} = -2V$. The vertical white dashed line divide the onand off-state regions, while the horizontal line marks the separation between the polar DTG-like behavior and the ambipolar STG-like characteristic.

Depending on the applied polarity-gate voltage V_{PG} , the RFET is either set to p- and n-mode operation. The device behavior subjected to polarity-gate voltages in between the respective maxima is determined by polarity-gate characterizations, as described in Section 3.2.5. Therefore, transfer characterizations at various polarity-gate voltages are measured. The resulting measurements can either be displayed like a multitude of overlapping transfer measurements with various polarity-gate voltages V_{PG} , as depicted in Figure 4.11 (a), or as colormap with the control- and polarity-gate voltages represented on the abscissa and ordinate respectively, while the absolute drain current $|I_D|$ is shown as color gradient, as illustrated in Figure 4.11 (b). Note that the enabled mode of a DTG not only depends on polarity- and control-gate voltages but also on the corresponding bias voltage. Furthermore, the bias is applied in an asymmetric fashion. The horizontal white dashed line in (b) marks the transition from DTG-like behavior, with a distinct p-mode set by a negative bias of $V_{DS} = -2V$, to an ambipolar STG-like characteristic in reverse-operation mode, as discussed in Section 2.4.3 and the corresponding band-diagram in Figure 2.8 (a). The vertical white dashed line highlights the on-state region of the illustrated p-mode and is set to a fixed control-gate voltage V_{CG} . Furthermore, variations in the drain-current at decreased polarity-gate voltages V_{PG} become more evident. The forthcoming polarity-gate characterizations will be illustrated as colormap with the white dashed lines mentioned before.



Figure 4.12: GesSOI DTG: Polarity-gate characterization over temperature for different bias conditions. Note the ambipolar behavior in reverse operation.

Measurement details for (a-f): The control-gate voltage was varied from $V_{CG} = \pm 5V$ to $\pm 5V$ in 0.1V steps while the polarity-gate voltage was swept from $V_{PG} = \pm 5V$ to $\pm 5V$ in 0.5 steps. The source-drain potential was set to $V_D = \pm 2V$ while source was set to $V_S = 0V$, resulting in an asymmetric bias. Note that every mode was measured from on- to off-state.

Figure 4.12 depicts the polarity-gate characterization under forward, subfigure (a-c), and backward, subfigure (d-f), bias direction. Different sign bias and polarity-gate voltages result in reverse operation regions, showing an ambipolar behavior as discussed in Section 2.4.3. The white dashed lines highlight the off regions at room temperature and are a guidance for the eye at higher temperatures and the corresponding shift in off-state regions. Furthermore, the horizontal line separates the preferable DTG behavior from the
undesired ambipolar STG-like behavior in reverse operation, as described in Section 2.4.3. Note that these are not set to the center control- nor polarity-gate voltage. The corresponding band diagrams for both positive and negative biases are shown in Figure 2.8.

In Figure 4.12 (a-c), the DTG is operated under a positive bias, highlighting the n-mode for same sign polarity-gate voltages. Thereby, a clear on-state region for both positive controland polarity-gate voltages is observed. However, there is no clear distinction between onstats for high control-gate voltages in combination with decreasing polarity-gate voltages. Furthermore, a rise in absolute drain current for negative control-gate voltages and low, but still positive, polarity-gate voltages is noticed. Polarity-gate voltages of $V_{PG} < 3V$ thereby mark the start of the ambipolar character in reverse operation.

With increasing temperature, the ubiquitous rise in current is identified. In addition, a slight shift of the vertical off-state line, dashed white line, towards higher control-gate voltages is observed along with an increase in off-state currents.

Subfigure (d-f) on the other hand emphasizes the p-mode, through, the simultaneous application of a negative bias and same sign control- and polarity-gate voltages. Thereby, a clear on-state island, with an increase in current for increasing polarity- and control-gate voltages is apparent. On the other hand, no such clear distinction in off-state current is seen for an ambipolar curve in reverse operation, as compared to its flipped bias direction. For increasing temperature the p-mode island is broadened and expanded towards lower control- and polarity-gate voltages.

4.3.3 Electrical Transport in Three-Gated Ge RFETs

As in the previous sections, concerning the STG in Section 4.3.1 and DTG in Section 4.3.2, this section deals with the statistical and temperature behavior of TTG devices fabricated on sample B, the GesSOI substrate in combination with a SiO_2/ZrO_2 gate dielectric stack. Therefore, the transfer measurements of nine individual TTGs were measured along with the temperature behavior of three devices.

Figure 4.13 (a) depicts the transfer measurements of nine individual TTGs. Overall a similar electrical behavior of all devices is observed in terms of their slops, on- and off-state currents and threshold voltage. This observation is verified by low standard deviations in Table 4.11 and implies a reliable and stable manufacturing process.

Generally, high on-state currents of almost $|I_D| = 10\mu A$ and low off-state with sub 100fA are reached, resulting in On/Off ratios of almost eight orders of magnitude. The overlapping p-mode has only one outlier, while the n-mode is rather unfolding at higher controlgate voltages, leading to increased On/On ratios. The fairly large and not self contained hysteresis for the n-mode on-state transfer curves are probably generated by fixed charges or traps with long relaxation times [89]. Measurements in vacuum could improve this behavior. Moreover, both p- and n-mode slopes are step over a wide control-gate range, with mean STHS of 270mV/dec and 430mV/dev, respectively. However, the threshold



Figure 4.13: GesSOI TTG: Transfer investigation for a multitude of TTG devices and behavioral change with increasing temperature. (a) Transfer characteristics of nine individual TTG devices, all operated under the same electrical and environmental conditions. (b) Transfer behavior at different elevated temperatures. Note the added current density $|J_D|$ axis on the right ordinate. Measurement details for (a) and (b): Control-gate voltage applied from on- to off-state, $V_{CG} = \pm 5V$ to $\pm 5V$ in 50mV steps, in a double measurement. The polarity-gate voltage was set to either $|V_{PG}| = +5V$ or $|V_{PG}| = -5V$ for n- or p-mode, respectively. The bias was set to $V_{DS} = +2V$ and applied symmetrically. For (b) the temperature of the sample was increased in 20K steps, starting from room-temperature to T = 400K.

voltage is shifted towards more positive control-gate voltages, leading to an off-centered p- and n-mode intersection which is furthermore located somewhat in the center of the On/Off ratio.

Figure 4.13 (b) illustrates the temperature behavior of the transfer measurements. Thereby, the almost perfectly overlapping p-mode over temperature is most noticeable and does not follow the trend of the previous device architectures. This furthermore results in steady on-state currents along with slightly shifted threshold voltages towards more negative control-gate voltages, as stated in Table 4.9. Due to ever increasing off-state currents, On/Off state ratios deteriorate along with flatter subthreshold slopes, starting at 180mV/dec and going up to 280mV/dec.

The n-mode on the other hand shows the typical unfolding behavior with rising temperatures. However, the threshold voltage and on-state currents vary due to the afore mentioned charging effect in Section 2.3.1 and Section 2.4.3. The STHS is only marginally increased with temperature from 220mV/dec at room temperature to 270mV/dec at T = 380K. The off currents gradually increase with temperature and cause a lowering in the On/Off ratio. The p- and n-mode intersection is close to the on-state currents and centered to the control-gate voltage V_{CG} . Furthermore, same sign hysteresis are observed, expect for the room temperature measurement. Lastly, the On/On ratio improvement is not convincing due the charging effect leading to large n-mode on-state variations. Worth pointing out is the steepest STHS out of all presented transfer measurements with 180mV/dec for the TTG p-mode at room-temperature.

Temp. [K]	On/On	On/Off n	On/Off p	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} \ n \\ [V] \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} V_{th} p \\ [V] \end{array}$	Hyst. n [V]	Hyst. p [V]	STHS n [mV/dec]	STHS p [mV/dec]
295	6.23	$5.42 \cdot 10^7$	$1.41 \cdot 10^9$	0.72	-0.96	0.11	-0.10	220.2	-182.7
320	1.66	$8.19{\cdot}10^7$	$1.33 \cdot 10^{8}$	1.10	-0.93	-0.89	0.15	254.4	-214.1
340	3.66	$1.16{\cdot}10^7$	$3.97{\cdot}10^7$	1.00	-1.06	-0.59	0.20	248.5	-238.5
360	3.20	$5.27{\cdot}10^6$	$1.68{\cdot}10^7$	0.49	-1.19	-0.74	0.30	272.2	-261.4
380	6.14	$1.30{\cdot}10^6$	$6.57{\cdot}10^6$	-0.02	-1.18	-0.61	0.28	270.8	-259.6
400	2.43	$1.65 \cdot 10^{6}$	$3.32 \cdot 10^{6}$	0.08	-1.17	-0.59	0.27	254.6	-280.0

Table 4.9: GesSOI TTG: Statistical temperature evaluation of one TTG device possessing a nanosheet width $W \approx 430nm$ and a Ge segment length of $L \approx 1.7 \mu m$.

The attentive reader may have noticed some differences between the room temperature transfer measurements in Figure 4.13 (a) and the transfer characterization over temperature in (b), regarding the overall curvature and most notable the n- and p-mode intersection. The exact reason behind the change in device character is not fully known, but it is believed to be caused by the gold top-gate metal diffusion with time and especially temperature. For instance, the measurements in subfigure (a) were taken two weeks prior to the temperature run presented in (b). However, the previously presented STG and DTG measurements at elevated temperatures were conducted during these two weeks, exposing the sample to $T_{max} \approx 127^{\circ}C$ for some hours. A solution to this instability in device behavior is presented in the Summary and Outlook chapter, Chapter 5.

The output characteristics are shown in Figure 4.14, where the set polarity-gate voltage V_{PG} determines the mode. Subfigure (a-c) in Figure 4.14 depict the n-mode output over temperature. Thereby, distinct on- and off-regions are recognizable, which depend on the applied bias. The on- and off-state transitions are located around $V_{CG} = 0V$. These are shifted towards lower and slightly negative control-gate voltages for a rising temperature. Furthermore, the drain current is lowered for negative bias voltages, resulting in a forward/backward, or horizontal, asymmetry which is however improved with temperature.

The p-mode output measurements, set by a negative polarity-gate voltage of $V_{PG} = -5V$, are displayed in subfigure (d-f) of Figure 4.14. As for the n-mode, the p-mode also possesses distinct on- and off-state regions highlighted in yellow and dark blue, respectively. In contrast to the n-mode, the threshold voltage is shifted to more negative voltages, as also stated in Table 4.9. This results in a visual reduction of the on-state area. The afore mentioned horizontal asymmetry is not visual for p-mode, since the current is higher than $1\mu A$.



Figure 4.14: GesSOI TTG: Output investigation over temperature under same bias conditions. Backward bias directions are indicated with negative V_{DS} values.

Measurement details for (a-f): Symmetric bias voltage decreased from $V_{DS} = \pm 2V$ to 0V in 20mV steps for various control-gate voltages starting from $V_{CG} = \pm 5V$ to $\pm 5V$ in 0.5V steps (from on- to off-state). For (a-c) the polarity-gate was set to $V_{PG} = +5V$, while in (d-f) it was set to $V_{PG} = -5V$. The temperature was increased from room temperature to T = 400K.

Considering both p- and n-mode no bias independent range as for the DTG is evident. Furthermore, no distinct rise in off-current is noticeable. However, as expected, there is no current around the zero-bias condition, $V_{DS} = 0V$.

Figure 4.15 shows the polarity-gate sweep at elevated temperatures, where the modeswitching behavior with varying control- and polarity-gate voltages is investigated. The added white dashed lines are set to $V_{PG} = V_{CG} = 0V$, dividing the graph into four quadrants which should ideally separate the p- and n-mode from each other. Furthermore, the lines serve as guidance for the eye, easing the identification of shifts at elevated temperatures. The corresponding band diagram of each mode is shown in Figure 2.8, using the same separation into four quadrants.



Figure 4.15: GesSOI TTG: Polarity-gate characterization over temperature under same bias conditions.

Measurement details for (a), (b) and (c): The control-gate voltage was varied from $V_{CG} = \pm 5V$ to $\pm 5V$ in 0.1V steps while the polarity-gate voltage was swept from $V_{PG} = \pm 5V$ to $\pm 5V$ in 0.5 steps. The bias voltage was set to $V_D = +2V$ and applied symmetrically to drain and source. The temperature of the sample was step-wise increased from room temperature to T = 400K.

Almost independent of the set temperature, on-state islands in quadrant one and three separated by off-regions in quadrant two and four are identified in subfigure (a-c) of Figure 4.15. Diagonally, for same control- and polarity-gate voltages, the on-regions are however connected by a narrow path of high drain currents.

At room temperature quadrant one is almost fully filled by high on-state currents, representing the n-mode for both positive polarity- and control-gate voltages. The p-mode on the other hand, located in quadrant three does not fill up the square defined by negative polarity- and control-gate voltages. For elevated temperatures, this however is changed and the n-mode outgrows quadrant one and extends to negative control-gate voltages in quadrant two. The p-mode however stays inside its quadrant even at T = 400K. The initially narrow diagonal connection of p- and n-mode further extends to negative controlgate voltages for $V_{PG} \approx 0V$. Furthermore, the overall off-state current increases with temperature.

Polarity-gate characterizations for same bias directional devices, as the TTG or any geometrically symmetric device with more than one top-gate, are especially helpful to identify operation regions in regard to control- and polarity-gate voltages. Note, that the polaritygate sweeps shown in Figure 4.15 are merged together at $V_{PG} = -V_{CG}$, showing the respective on to off sweep in control-gate voltage, horizontal sweep, for each mode.

Rounding up the temperature investigation of the presented TTG devices fabricated on sample B is the effective activation energy (eAE) estimation, depicted in Figure 4.16. Therefore, the previously presented output measurements at varying bias voltages over a



Figure 4.16: GesSOI TTG: Effective activation energy plot for p- and n-mode.

changing control-gate voltage were analyzed as discussed in Section 3.2.8. Resulting negative activation energies stand for a transparent injection barrier, also referred to as ohmic contact, while positive barriers resemble Schottky barriers, as illustrated in Figure 2.4. Depending on the presented barrier at the metal-semiconductor junctions, a lower or higher current flow is achieved.

Figure 4.16 shows the eAE evaluation of a TTG device on sample B, where subfigure (a) is configured for p-mode operation with a negative polarity-gate voltage of $V_{PG} = -5V$ and (b) for n-mode with $V_{PG} = +5V$. The expected low activation energy regions correlate with the high current regions of Figure 4.13 (b). Thereby, the transition regions from high to low energies are shifted with increased bias, endorsing the barrier thinning and the resulting increase in tunneling currents. These transition lines do not overlap with the respective threshold voltages, but rather with the initial increase of current flow. Interestingly, the high effective activation energy band around $V_{CG} = 0V$ for the n-mode in subfigure (b) is not observed for the corresponding p-mode in (a).

4.3.4 Electrical Characteristics of Multi-Gate RFETs

By adding another top-gate the functionality of the previously discussed TTG, in Section 4.3.3, can further be extended. The 4TG thereby has two individual control-gates, CG1 and CG2, as illustrated in Figure 2.7, overlaying the channel region, along with two polarity-gates over both metal-semiconductor junctions. The second control-gate enables an additional manipulation of the underlying Ge band structure and targeted control of charge carrier flow. As a result, standalone wired logics with only one transistor are feasible. Theoretically, even more top-gates can be added, further diversifying RFETs with N top-gates, allowing multiple input logic blocks. Note, that a comparatively longer Ge segment length is needed in order to fit the excess control-gates.



Figure 4.17: GesSOI 4TG: Transfer characterization for various polarity-gate and input A and B voltages. (a): Transfer measurements for same and different sign polarity-gate and input B voltages over input A V_A . (b): Various input B voltages V_B at a fixed polarity-gate voltage of $V_{PG} = +5V$ over input A V_A .

Measurement details for (a): V_A was varied from on- to off-state, $\pm 5V$ to $\mp 5V$, indicated by the arrows, in 0.1V steps. For (b) V_A was only varied from +5V to -5V and while the polarity-gate voltage was fixed at $V_{PG} = +5V$. The bias voltage for both measurements was set to $V_{DS} = 2V$ in symmetric fashion.

The presented 4TGs in this thesis have a top-gate arranged as presented in Figure 2.7, possessing two top-gates, CG1 and CG2 which are denoted with A and B, along with two physically connected polarity-gates. As mentioned in Section 3.2.6, concerning the measurement setup and procedure of the 4TG device characterization, the absolute drain current in dependence of the two input voltages A and B at constant polarity-gate and bias voltage is investigated.

Transfer measurements conducted on 4TG devices are illustrated in Figure 4.17 (a) for various V_A and V_B input- and V_{PG} polarity-gate voltages. Thereby, TTG-like curves for same sign input voltages V_A , V_B and polarity-gate voltages V_{PG} are observed. No distinct on-state current is obtained for disparate signs. Subfigure (b) on the other hand, depicts the electrical behavior of the 4TG set to n-mode operation, by $V_{PG} = +5V$, for various V_B input voltages over input A V_A . A gradual decrease in drain current I_D with decreasing V_B voltages is observed, resembling the functionality of a wired AND logic. Alternatively, the same measurement can also be plotted as colormap, as shown in Figure 4.18 (b). Thereby, the distinct high and low current regions are highlighted. Subfigure (a) of Figure 4.18 sketches the same variation of input B V_B over A V_A however for a fixed polarity-gate voltage of $V_{PG} = -5V$, resulting in a NOR type behavior.



Figure 4.18: GesSOI 4TG: Wired NOR (a) and AND (b) of a 4TG, configured in p- and n-mode, respectively. The white dashed lines at the center voltages of V_A and V_B separate the high and low current regions, indicated by H and L, which are representing logic 0 and 1 of the respective logic gate.

Measurement details for (a) and (b): V_A and V_B were varied from on- to off-state, $\pm 5V$ to $\mp 5V$ in 0.1V and 0.5V steps, respectively. The bias was set to $V_{DS} = 2V$ and applied symmetrically to source and drain. The polarity-gate voltage was set to $V_{PG} = -5V$ for (a) and $V_{PG} = +5V$ for (b).

Logic truth tables for the presented logic gates in Figure 4.18 (a) and (b) are given in Table 4.10. Furthermore, a wired XNOR gate is also realizable with a TTG and its correspond polarity-gate and control-gate as input A and B, equivalent to the polarity-gate characterization presented in Figure 4.15. Moreover, the top-gate count is even less for the XNOR since it is a triple top-gate. With the addition of an RFET inverter, created out of two subsequent TTG (or DTG) devices, wired in analogue to its MOSFET counterpart [93], all basic logic blocks can be recreated with one 4TG and two TTGs or three TTGs [14, 94, 95].

Input A CG1/PG	Input B CG2/CG	NOR 4TG p-mode	AND 4TG n-mode	XNOR TTG w. PG and CG
0	0	1	0	1
0	1	0	0	0
1	0	0	0	0
1	1	0	1	1

Table 4.10: Two-input truth table for a logic NOR, AND and XNOR gate, which can be reproduced by a 4TG RFET in p- or n-mode or a TTG RFET.

4.3.5 Comparison of Transfer Characteristics

This section puts the obtained STG, DTG and TTG measurement results of Sections 4.3.1 to 4.3.3 into perspective by comparing the evaluation results side by side. Therefore, the transfer characterizations presented in Figures 4.5, 4.9 and 4.13 (a) are evaluated as discussed in Section 3.2.9. The obtained currents are either normalized to their respective nanosheet width W, stated as $I_{on/off}/W$, or cross section $W \cdot H$, where H is the height of the Ge layer which is 10nm for all samples, stated as J_{on} . Due to varying signs of the hysteresis between devices of one architecture, the absolute values are calculated.

In general a better electrical controllability, resulting in higher on-state and lower off-state currents along with steeper slops, is observed in Table 4.11 with increasing top-gates. Note the relatively high normalized off-state currents I_{off}/W of the presented STGs, which can be traced back to three devices Figure 4.5 (a), possessing high and left shifted off-state points.

Moreover, the obtained measurement results presented in Section 4.3.3 and Table 4.11 of nine TTG devices fabricated on sample B (GesSOI with SiO₂ & ZrO₂) are compared to other Al-Ge RFETs found in literature. Thereby, the effects of a 4nm, 10nm and 20nm thick Ge layer are put into perspective. However, these sample do not just differ in their respective Ge layer thickness but also in their base-substrate, gate oxide material and thickness, applied top-gate voltage and drain-source bias. As a result, a direct comparison between the samples is not fair and reasonable. However, Table 4.12 indicates a trend and puts the used material compositions into relation. Additionally, a comparison to Al-Si based TTGs is made, highlighting the characteristics of each semiconductor material for RFET applications.

Taking a closer look at the different Ge samples presented in [29, 60] revels that all were measured with a polarity-gate voltage of $V_{PG} = \pm 5V$ and a control-gate voltage range of $V_{CG_{range}} = \pm 5V$. The Al-Si sample on the other hand, possessing a higher EOT, was measured until $\pm 7V$ for PG and CG. However, all samples were measured with the same symmetric bias voltage of $V_{DS} = 2V$. The Al-Ge sample possessing a 20nm thick Ge layer also stands out by not using a SiO₂ dielectric layer along with its Ge on insulator GeOI platform. This however results in a virtually none existing n-mode with an On/Off ratio of ≈ 70 .

However, venturing a wage comparison outlines the benefits of the presented GesSOI based RFETs of this thesis in terms of overall current density, On/On ratio, V_{th} symmetry and STHS. Thereby, the introduced platform is a valuable alternative to conventional Si based RFETs.

Table 4.11: Transfer evaluation of STG, DTG and TTG devices operated under the identical conditions and fabricated on the same GesSOI platform with a SiO_2/ZrO_2 gate dielectric stack. Therefore, the mean value and standard deviation of six STG, eight DTG and nine TTG devices were calculated. Varying signs of the calculated hysteresis lead to false statistical results, therefore the absolute values are given.

Sample B	STG	H (6)	DTC	G (8)	TTG	(9)
GesSOI	Mean	Std.	Mean	Std.	Mean	Std.
$rac{\mathbf{I_{on}}/\mathbf{W} \ \mathbf{n}}{[\mu\mathbf{A}/\mu\mathbf{m}]}$	4,31	4,02	0,85	0,66	7,27	9,27
$rac{\mathbf{I_{on}}/\mathbf{W} \ \mathbf{p}}{[\mu \mathbf{A}/\mu \mathbf{m}]}$	2,78	1,70	4,72	2,72	13,51	3,28
$\frac{J_{\rm on} \ n}{[A/\mu m^2]}$	$4,31 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$4,02 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$8,50.10^{-5}$	$6,65 \cdot 10^{-5}$	$7,27 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$9,27 \cdot 10^{-4}$
${f J_{on} \ p} \ [A/\mu m^2]$	$2,78 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$1,70 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$4,72 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$2,72 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$1,35 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$3,28 \cdot 10^{-4}$
${ m I_{off}/W}~{ m n}$ $[\mu{ m A}/\mu{ m m}]$	$1,35 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$2,34 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$1,31 \cdot 10^{-7}$	$6,07 \cdot 10^{-8}$	$1,58 \cdot 10^{-7}$	$2,19 \cdot 10^{-8}$
$rac{\mathbf{I_{off}}/\mathbf{W} \ \mathbf{p}}{[\mu \mathbf{A}/\mu \mathbf{m}]}$	$1,04 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$1,78 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$8,47 \cdot 10^{-8}$	$7,78 \cdot 10^{-8}$	$1,56 \cdot 10^{-7}$	$4,06 \cdot 10^{-8}$
On/On	2,69	$1,\!95$	12,26	10,78	4,23	$3,\!05$
On/Off n	$1,\!30\!\cdot\!10^{6}$	$2,03 \cdot 10^{6}$	$5,52 \cdot 10^{6}$	$4,66 \cdot 10^{6}$	$3,\!69{\cdot}10^7$	$4,\!61\!\cdot\!10^{7}$
On/Off p	$3,19{\cdot}10^{6}$	$5,39 \cdot 10^{6}$	$7,\!07{\cdot}10^7$	$3,39 \cdot 10^{7}$	$8,31 \cdot 10^{7}$	$2,76 \cdot 10^{7}$
$V_{\rm th} \ n \ [V]$	3,58	0,47	4,03	0,19	1,23	0,52
$V_{\rm th} \ p \ [V]$	-3,69	0,30	-3,85	0,18	-2,23	0,15
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Hyst. n} \\ [\text{V}] \end{array}$	0,25	0,32	0,22	0,11	0,50	0,60
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Hyst. p} \\ [\text{V}] \end{array}$	0,18	0,12	0,07	0,05	0,10	0,08
STHS n [mV/dec]	677,9	255,0	468,2	69,4	429,1	40,8
STHS p [mV/dec]	-386,6	96,7	-294,4	21,0	-268,9	25,8

Table 4.12: Comparison of the evaluated TTG RFETs of Sample B (GesSOI with $SiO_2 \& ZrO_2$) to other Al-Ge TTG RFETs in literature. Furthermore, a comparison to Al-Si TTG RFETs based on a SOI wafer is made, highlighting the benefit of the used GesSOI substrate. Note, that the presented values are average values of nine or ten representative TTG devices on each platform.

Material System: Channel height: Source:	Al-Ge 10nm Ge Sample B	Al-Ge 4nm Ge [60]	Al-Ge 20nm Ge [60]	Al-Si 15.4 nm Si [59]
Platform	GesSOI	Ge on SOI	GeOI	SOI
Oxide	$SiO_2 \mid ZrO_2$	$SiO_2 \mid ZrO_2$	$GeO_x \mid Al_2O_3$	SiO_2
Thickness [nm]	5 2.8	9 3.2	11	12.4
Relative permittivity ϵ_r	3.9 27	3.9 27	9.31	3.9
EOT [nm]	5.40	9.46	4.60	12.40
$\frac{\mathbf{I_{on}}/\mathbf{W} \mathbf{n}}{[\mu \mathbf{A}/\mu \mathbf{m}]}$	7.27	3.74	0.04	6.20
$\frac{\mathbf{I_{on}}/\mathbf{W} \mathbf{p}}{[\mu \mathbf{A}/\mu \mathbf{m}]}$	13.51	6.47	10.66	11.80
$\frac{\mathbf{J_{on} n}}{[\mathbf{A}/\mu\mathbf{m}^2]}$	$7.27 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$9,36 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$2,00 \cdot 10^{-6}$	$4,16 \cdot 10^{-4}$
${f J_{ m on} \ p} \ [A/\mu m^2]$	$1.35 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$1,62 \cdot 10^{-3}$	$5,33 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$7,87 \cdot 10^{-4}$
${f I_{off}/W} {f n} \ [\mu A/\mu m]$	$1.58 \cdot 10^{-7}$	$1.32 \cdot 10^{-5}$	$6.85 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$3.00 \cdot 10^{-7}$
$\overline{ \mathbf{I_{off}/W p} }_{[\mu \mathbf{A}/\mu \mathbf{m}] }$	$1.56 \cdot 10^{-7}$	$1.98 \cdot 10^{-7}$	$9.08 \cdot 10^{-4}$	$2.80 \cdot 10^{-7}$
On/On	4.23	1.96	120.30	1.90
On/Off n	$3.69 \cdot 10^{7}$	$2.00 \cdot 10^{7}$	$6.98 \cdot 10^1$	$2.10 \cdot 10^7$
On/Off p	$8.31 \cdot 10^{7}$	$3.00 \cdot 10^{7}$	$2.10 \cdot 10^4$	$4.20 \cdot 10^{7}$
$V_{th} n [V]$	1.23	0.32	1.34	1.80
${ m V_{th}}~{ m p}~[{ m V}]$	-2.23	-1.24	-0.01	-2.80
STHS n [mV/dec]	429.1	557.7	752.6	480.0
STHS p [mV/dec]	-268.9	-275.6	-407.1	-336.0



Chapter 5

Summary and Outlook

In the thesis at hand, a comparison of Ge on SOI and sSOI based reconfigurable FET structures is given. Depending on the fabricated sample, the wafer stack had a 10 nm thick Ge layer grown on top of a SOI or a sSOI substrate, which were fabricated by our project partner. The MBE grown Ge layer was covered with a 3nm thick Si capping layer, acting as a sacrificial layer allowing the formation of a low trap density $Ge-SiO_2$ dielectric interface. In order to form the underlying metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructure, or in the case of this thesis the Al-Ge-Al heterostructure, thermally activated solid-state diffusion of Al into the Ge nanosheet was used, resulting in two abrupt, reliable and reproducible Al-Ge transitions at each end of the nanosheet. The nanostructure is either passivated with dry thermally grown SiO_2 only or with SiO_2 in combination with the high-k dielectric ZrO₂, deposited by ALD. As stated in the project evolution section, Section 4.2, three different samples were fabricated, two out of the sSOI wafer stack, one with a SiO_2 only and the other with an added ZrO_2 dielectric layer atop, and one out of the SOI base-substrate with SiO_2 and ZrO_2 . The electrical behavior of all three samples was analyzed and discussed while sample B was thoroughly investigated and characterized over temperature, since it had the best performance in terms of on-state current densities, on to off ratios and threshold voltage. Depending on the Ge segment length, either single top-gated SBFETs or RFETs with two, three or four top-gates were realized.

The three distinct samples, which differ in their respective base-substrate and gate dielectric, were compared in terms of their STG, DTG and TTG transfer behavior and evaluation results. The temperature dependent electrical characterization of the RFET structures fabricated on sample B included transfer curves and output measurements for STG, DTG and TTG device architectures along with polarity-gate characterizations, highlighting the mode switching behavior of DTGs and TTGs in dependence of the applied topgate voltages. Furthermore, the associated effective Schottky barrier heights (eSBH) and effective activation energies (eAE) were extracted from the STG and TTG Output measurements conducted at temperatures ranging from T = 295K to 400K. The related RFET parameters were extracted within a 5V top-gate voltage range and for a bias voltage of $V_{DS} = 2V$. Thereby, the bias voltage of STGs, TTGs 4TGs was applied symmetrically to drain and source, while the bias of DTG devices was applied asymmetrically to drain while the source potential was grounded.

Since the presented samples either differ in their underlying base-substrate or used gate dielectric while the remaining fabrication process and electrical characterization were the same, a direct comparison between the three samples highlights the influence of each material combination. In general, the sample fabricated out of the sSOI wafer stack in combination with the SiO₂/ZrO₂ gate dielectric outperformed the other samples in terms of on- and off-state currents for both p- and n-mode resulting in higher on to off ratios along with symmetric threshold-voltages and improved subthreshold slopes. However, the sample based on the SOI substrate possessing the same SiO₂/ZrO₂ gate stack, had the lowest hysteresis of all investigated device architectures. This is unexpected, because the main source of defect states was believed to be at the SiO₂ - ZrO₂ interface, which is however present for both samples. Thus, the Ge - SiO₂ interface seems to be effected by the underlying Si layer of the base-substrate and the resulting stress. Furthermore, the DTG devices fabricated from the SOI substrate had the comparably lowest STHS for both p- and n-mode among this device architecture. The considered 4TG devices revealed sharp and steep on- and off-state transitions, preferable for wired logic applications.

Considering the extensive bias spectroscopy over temperature analysis for STG, DTG and TTG devices fabricated on the sSOI base-substrate with a SiO₂/ZrO₂ passivation, a general increase in on- and off-state currents with rising temperatures is noticed, while the threshold voltage of both modes is shifted towards $V_{TG/CG} = 0V$. Since the off-state currents increase by several orders of magnitude from room-temperature to T = 400K while the on-currents just double, the on to off ratios decrease and the subthreshold slope flattens at elevated temperatures. Interestingly, the sign of the n-mode hysteresis of STG, DTG and TTG devices arbitrary flip over temperature, indicating lower and higher back sweeping currents (BSC) in contrast to the constant positive sign, resembling a higher BSC, of the p-modes.

In order to set the obtain TTG RFET characteristics into perspective, a comparison to other Al-Ge based RFETs comprising either thinner or thicker Ge layers and Al-Si RFETs is conducted. Thereby, the sSOI based Al-Ge RFET sample, fabricated in the scope of this thesis, stands out by the highest p- and n-mode on-state current normalized to the nanosheet width I_{on}/W along with the lowest normalized off-state currents. This results in on/off state ratios of more than seven order of magnitude. Despite a slightly lower current density in comparison to the Al-Ge RFET sample possessing a similar wafer stack however only a 4 nm Ge layer, the subthreshold slope of the presented material system is the lowest among the comparison. Generally, the fabricated RFET sample indicates improvements in every aspect, except the on to on symmetry, in comparison to its Al-Si counterpart. This slight increase in asymmetry is probably caused by a none centered pinning level of the underlying Al-Si-Ge interface, as discussed in Section 2.3.1. From the perspective of the semiconductor industry, there's a clear advantage in fabricating transistor devices at wafer-scale using a top-down approach as the Ge RFETs presented in this thesis. The importance of on-state symmetry is highlighted when considering reconfigurable circuits and the noted size discrepancies between n- and p-MOS transistors in CMOS technology. Since both p- and n-mode of an RFET are combined in one single device, the resulting transistors are of equal dimensions. Furthermore, a reliable and stable fabrication process, particularly for the formation of the metal-semiconductor junctions, like the introduced thermally activated Al diffusion, is crucial. Additionally, the capability to dynamically switch the operational mode during runtime enables efficient logic circuits with fewer transistors. The symmetry observed for the Ge RFETs presented in this thesis are primarily caused by the underlying material system of the base-substrate, eliminating the need to additional strain engineering [13, 14, 21].

Providing an outlook, there are still certain aspects of the presented material system that can be investigated, in order to obtain an extensive understanding of the underlying properties. For instance, the influence of the exerted stress on the Ge channel layer, effecting the electrical device behavior, can be determined by various Ge contents in the SiGe seed layer of the strained Si layer. Furthermore, the fabrication process can be made CMOS compatible by replacing Au with Al as top-gate metal, which would probably improve the device degradation over time and temperature. Given the possibility of single transistor RFET logic's, like the presented two input AND, NOR and XNOR gates, the next step is to establish complex logic circuits comprising Al-Ge based RFETs overcoming the possibilities of traditional CMOS technology.



List of Figures

2.1	Diamond crystal structure and Ge band diagram
2.2	Idealized semiconductor/dielectric band diagram
2.3	Metal-semiconductor junctions for p- and n-type semiconductors
2.4	Schottky and Ohmic contacts for Metal-Semiconductor transitions 13
2.5	Charge carrier transport mechanisms at Schottky barrier
2.6	Energy barrier heights for Si and Ge in contact with different metals 15
2.7	Top-gate arrangement of an STG, DTG, TTG and 4TG
2.8	Operating regions of a DTG and TTG with corresponding band diagram 21
3.1	Illustration of the used substrate stack as cross section
3.2	AFM measurements of the GesSOI and GeSOI substrate
3.3	Fabrication process steps with illustrations
3.4	Illustration of a fabricated RFET as cross section
3.5	Cascade needle proper and STG/TTG measurement setup
3.6	Exemplary V_{th} and STHS evaluation
4.1	Comparison of Sample A, B and C's layer structure
4.2	SEM images of STG, DTG, TTG and 4TG devices
4.3	Comparison of STGs, DTGs and TTGs fabricated on sample A, B and C 47
4.4	Comparison of STG, DTG and TTG devices fabricated on Sample B 52
4.5	GesSOI STG: Transfer investigation and temperature effects
4.6	GesSOI STG Output characterization displayed as line plot and colormap 55
4.7	GesSOI STG: Output investigation over temperature
4.8	GesSOI STG: effective Schottky barrier height estimation
4.9	GesSOI DTG: Transfer investigation and temperature effects
4.10	GesSOI DTG: Output investigation over temperature 60
4.11	GesSOI DTG Polarity-gate characterization displayed as line plot and colormap. 61
4.12	GesSOI DTG: Polarity-gate characterization over temperature
4.13	GesSOI TTG: Transfer investigation and temperature effects
4.14	GesSOI TTG: Output investigation over temperature
4.15	GesSOI TTG: Polarity-gate characterization over temperature
4.16	GesSOI TTG: Effective Activation Energy

4.17	GesSOI 4TG:	Transfer characterization.	69
4.18	GesSOI 4TG:	Wired logic	70

List of Tables

2.1 2.2	Physical and electrical parameters of Ge and Si	79
2.3	Diffusion rates for Al-Si and Al-Ge material systems	16
4.1	Fabrication differences and similarities between Sample A, B and C	45
4.2	Overview of the fabricated devices on each Sample	46
4.3	Evaluation results of STGs fabricated on Sample A, B and C	48
4.4	Evaluation results of DTGs fabricated on Sample A, B and C	49
4.5	Evaluation results of TTGs fabricated on Sample A, B and C	49
4.6	STG, DTG and TTG evaluation results for sample B	53
4.7	GesSOI STG: Temperature evaluation	55
4.8	GesSOI DTG: Temperature evaluation.	59
4.9	GesSOI TTG: Temperature evaluation.	65
4.10	Two input truth table for logic gates.	70
4.11	Transfer evaluation of STGs, DTGs and TTGs fabricated on GesSOI	72
4.12	Comparison of Sample B to other TTG RFETs presented in literature	73



Bibliography

- J. Bardeen and W.H. Brattain. The transistor, a semiconductor triode. Proceedings of the IEEE, 86(1):29–30, 1998.
- [2] W.F. Brinkman. The transistor: 50 glorious years and where we are going. In 1997 IEEE International Solids-State Circuits Conference. Digest of Technical Papers. IEEE.
- [3] International roadmap for devices and systems (IRDS) 2021 edition. 2021.
- [4] Meng-Fan Chang, Ching Lin, Chang Hong Shen, Sung Wen Wang, Kuo Cheng Chang, Robert Chen-Hao Chang, and Wen Kuan Yeh. The role of government policy in the building of a global semiconductor industry. *Nature Electronics*, 4(4):230–233, 2021.
- [5] Chips in a crisis. Nature Electronics, 4(5):317-317, 2021.
- [6] Gordon E. Moore. Cramming more components onto integrated circuits, reprinted from electronics, volume 38, number 8, april 19, 1965, pp.114 ff. *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Society Newsletter*, 11(3):33–35, 2006.
- [7] S. E. Thompson and S. Parthasarathy. Moore's law: The future of Si microelectronics. *Materials Today*, 9(6):20–25, 2006.
- [8] Jarek Dabrowski and Hans-Joachim Müssig. Silicon Surfaces and Formation of Interfaces. WORLD SCIENTIFIC, 2000.
- Sah Chih-Tang. Evolution of the MOS transistor-from conception to VLSI. Proceedings of the IEEE, 76(10):1280–1326, 1988.
- [10] R.H. Dennard, F.H. Gaensslen, Hwa-Nien Yu, V.L. Rideout, E. Bassous, and A.R. LeBlanc. Design of ion-implanted MOSFET's with very small physical dimensions. *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, 9(5):256–268, 1974.
- [11] B. Davari, R.H. Dennard, and G.G. Shahidi. CMOS scaling for high performance and low power-the next ten years. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 83(4):595–606, 1995.
- [12] Sayeef Salahuddin, Kai Ni, and Suman Datta. The era of hyper-scaling in electronics. *Nature Electronics*, 1(8):442–450, 2018.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [13] T. Mikolajick, G. Galderisi, S. Rai, M. Simon, R. Böckle, M. Sistani, C. Cakirlar, N. Bhattacharjee, T. Mauersberger, A. Heinzig, A. Kumar, W.M. Weber, and J. Trommer. Reconfigurable field effect transistors: A technology enablers perspective. *Solid-State Electronics*, 194:108381, 2022.
- [14] W.M. Weber, A. Heinzig, J. Trommer, D. Martin, M. Grube, and T. Mikolajick. Reconfigurable nanowire electronics - a review. *Solid-State Electronics*, 102:12–24, 2014.
- [15] T Mikolajick, A Heinzig, J Trommer, T Baldauf, and W M Weber. The RFET a reconfigurable nanowire transistor and its application to novel electronic circuits and systems. *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, 32(4):043001, 2017.
- [16] Raphael Böckle, Masiar Sistani, Kilian Eysin, Maximilian G. Bartmann, Minh Anh Luong, Martien I. den Hertog, Alois Lugstein, and Walter M. Weber. Gate-tunable negative differential resistance in next-generation Ge nanodevices and their performance metrics. Advanced Electronic Materials, 7(3):2001178, 2021.
- [17] Won Joo Lee, Hee Tae kwon, Hyun-Suk Choi, Deahoon Wee, Sangwan Kim, and Yoon Kim. Reconfigurable u-shaped tunnel field-effect transistor. *IEICE Electronics Express*, 14(20):20170758–20170758, 2017.
- [18] Jean-Pierre Colinge, Chi-Woo Lee, Aryan Afzalian, Nima Dehdashti Akhavan, Ran Yan, Isabelle Ferain, Pedram Razavi, Brendan O'Neill, Alan Blake, Mary White, Anne-Marie Kelleher, Brendan McCarthy, and Richard Murphy. Nanowire transistors without junctions. *Nature Nanotechnology*, 5(3):225–229, 2010.
- [19] Jens Trommer, André Heinzig, Uwe Mühle, Markus Löffler, Annett Winzer, Paul M. Jordan, Jürgen Beister, Tim Baldauf, Marion Geidel, Barbara Adolphi, Ehrenfried Zschech, Thomas Mikolajick, and Walter M. Weber. Enabling energy efficiency and polarity control in germanium nanowire transistors by individually gated nanojunctions. ACS Nano, 11(2):1704–1711, 2017.
- [20] S. Kral, C. Zeiner, M. Stöger-Pollach, E. Bertagnolli, M. I. den Hertog, M. Lopez-Haro, E. Robin, K. El Hajraoui, and A. Lugstein. Abrupt schottky junctions in Al/Ge nanowire heterostructures. *Nano Letters*, 15(7):4783–4787, 2015.
- [21] André Heinzig, Stefan Slesazeck, Franz Kreupl, Thomas Mikolajick, and Walter M. Weber. Reconfigurable silicon nanowire transistors. *Nano Letters*, 12(1):119–124, 2011.
- [22] W.M. Weber and T. Mikolajick. Silicon and germanium nanowire electronics: Physics of conventional and unconventional transistors. *Reports on Progress in Physics*, 80 (6):066502, 2017.
- [23] Clemens Winkler. Mittheilungen über das germanium. Journal für Praktische Chemie, 36(1):177–209, 1887.
- [24] Celestine N. Mercer. Germanium giving microelectronics an efficiency boost. 2015.

- [25] The lost history of the transistor. *IEEE Spectrum*, 41(5):44–49, 2004.
- [26] G Yang, H Mei, Y T Guan, G J Wang, D M Mei, and K Irmscher. Study on the properties of high purity germanium crystals. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series*, 606:012013, 2015.
- [27] Ben Depuydt, Marc De Jonghe, Walter De Baets, Igor Romandic, Antoon Theuwis, Carl Quaeyhaegens, Chrystel Deguet, Takeshi Akatsu, and Fabrice Letertre. Germanium materials. In *Germanium-Based Technologies*, pages 11–I. Elsevier, 2007.
- [28] S.M. Sze and K.K. Ng. Physics of Semiconductor Devices. Wiley, 2006.
- [29] Andreas Fuchsberger. Reconfigurable field-effect transistors based on aluminiumsilicon-germanium heterostructures. 2022.
- [30] Nsm archive physical properties of semiconductors, 2022.
- [31] Harald Ibach and Hans Lüth. Solid-State Physics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2009.
- [32] Yoshiki Kamata. High-k/Ge MOSFETs for future nanoelectronics. Materials Today, 11(1):30–38, 2008.
- [33] Duygu Kuzum, Tejas Krishnamohan, Abhijit J. Pethe, Ali K. Okyay, Yasuhiro Oshima, Yun Sun, James P. McVittie, Piero A. Pianetta, Paul C. McIntyre, and Krishna C. Saraswat. Ge-interface engineering with ozone oxidation for low interface-state density. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 29(4):328–330, 2008.
- [34] Supawan Joonwichien, Yasuhiro Kida, Masaaki Moriya, Satoshi Utsunomiya, Katsuhiko Shirasawa, and Hidetaka Takato. Assisted passivation by a chemically grown SiO₂ layer for p-type selective emitter-passivated emitter and rear cells. *Solar Energy Materials and Solar Cells*, 186:84–91, 2018.
- [35] Mark Bohr, Robert Chau, Tahir Ghani, and Kaizad Mistry. The high-k solution. IEEE Spectrum, 44(10):29–35, 2007.
- [36] C. Zhao, X. Wang, and W. Wang. High-κ dielectric and metal gate. In CMOS Past, Present and Future, pages 69–103. Elsevier, 2018.
- [37] G. D. Wilk, R. M. Wallace, and J. M. Anthony. High-k gate dielectrics: Current status and materials properties considerations. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 89(10): 5243–5275, 2001.
- [38] John Robertson. Band offsets of wide-band-gap oxides and implications for future electronic devices. Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena, 18(3):1785–1791, 2000.
- [39] Junan Xie, Zhennan Zhu, Hong Tao, Shangxiong Zhou, Zhihao Liang, Zhihang Li, Rihui Yao, Yiping Wang, Honglong Ning, and Junbiao Peng. Research progress of high dielectric constant zirconia-based materials for gate dielectric application. *Coatings*, 10(7):698, 2020.

- [40] J. Robertson. High dielectric constant oxides. The European Physical Journal Applied Physics, 28(3):265–291, 2004.
- [41] Jean-Pierre Colinge. SOI materials characterization. pages 55–89, 1991.
- [42] G. K. Celler and Sorin Cristoloveanu. Frontiers of silicon-on-insulator. Journal of Applied Physics, 93(9):4955–4978, 2003.
- [43] Zejie Zheng, Xiao Yu, Min Xie, Ran Cheng, Rui Zhang, and Yi Zhao. Demonstration of ultra-thin buried oxide germanium-on-insulator MOSFETs by direct wafer bonding and polishing techniques. *Applied Physics Letters*, 109(2), 2016.
- [44] Vishal Kumar Aggarwal, Ankita Ghatak, Dinakar Kanjilal, Debdulal Kabiraj, Achintya Singha, Sandip Bysakh, Samar Kumar Medda, Supriya Chakraborty, and A.K. Raychaudhuri. Fabrication of germanium-on-insulator in a ge wafer with a crystalline ge top layer and buried GeO₂ layer by oxygen ion implantation. *Materials Science and Engineering: B*, 260:114616, 2020.
- [45] Andreas Salomon, Johannes Aberl, Lada Vukušić, Manuel Hauser, Thomas Fromherz, and Moritz Brehm. Relaxation delay of Ge-rich epitaxial SiGe films on Si(001). *physica status solidi (a)*, 219(17), 2022.
- [46] Sumit Choudhary, Daniel Schwarz, Hannes S. Funk, D. Weishaupt, Robin Khosla, Satinder K. Sharma, and Jorg Schulze. A steep slope MBE-grown thin p-Ge channel FETs on bulk Ge-on-Si using HZO internal voltage amplification. *IEEE Transactions* on Electron Devices, 69(5):2725–2731, 2022.
- [47] Antoine Kahn. Fermi level, work function and vacuum level. Materials Horizons, 3 (1):7–10, 2016.
- [48] Manijeh Razeghi. Fundamentals of Solid State Engineering. Springer US, 2009.
- [49] Jürgen Smoliner. Grundlagen der Halbleiterphysik. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2020.
- [50] Lukas Wind, Masiar Sistani, Raphael Böckle, Jürgen Smoliner, Lada Vukŭsić, Johannes Aberl, Moritz Brehm, Peter Schweizer, Xavier Maeder, Johann Michler, Frank Fournel, Jean-Michel Hartmann, and Walter M. Weber. Composition dependent electrical transport in $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$ nanosheets with monolithic single-elementary Al contacts. *Small*, 18(44), 2022.
- [51] Dietmar Schroeder. Modelling of Interface Carrier Transport for Device Simulation. Springer Vienna, 1994.
- [52] Tomonori Nishimura, Koji Kita, and Akira Toriumi. Evidence for strong fermi-level pinning due to metal-induced gap states at metal/germanium interface. *Applied Physics Letters*, 91(12), 2007.

- [53] K.-W. Ang, K. Majumdar, K. Matthews, C. D. Young, C. Kenney, C. Hobbs, P. D. Kirsch, R. Jammy, R. D. Clark, S. Consiglio, K. Tapily, Y. Trickett, G. Nakamura, C. S. Wajda, G. J. Leusink, M. Rodgers, and S. C. Gausepohl. Effective schottky barrier height modulation using dielectric dipoles for source/drain specific contact resistivity improvement. In 2012 International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE, 2012.
- [54] Lukas Wind, Masiar Sistani, Zehao Song, Xavier Maeder, Darius Pohl, Johann Michler, Bernd Rellinghaus, Walter M. Weber, and Alois Lugstein. Monolithic metal-semiconductor-metal heterostructures enabling next-generation germanium nanodevices. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 13(10):12393-12399, 2021.
- [55] T. Mikolajick, G. Galderisi, M. Simon, S. Rai, A. Kumar, A. Heinzig, W.M. Weber, and J. Trommer. 20 years of reconfigurable field-effect transistors: From concepts to future applications. *Solid-State Electronics*, 186:108036, 2021.
- [56] Walter M. Weber, Lutz Geelhaar, Andrew P. Graham, Eugen Unger, Georg S. Duesberg, Maik Liebau, Werner Pamler, Caroline Chèze, Henning Riechert, Paolo Lugli, and Franz Kreupl. Silicon-nanowire transistors with intruded nickel-silicide contacts. *Nano Letters*, 6(12):2660–2666, 2006.
- [57] So Jeong Park, Dae-Young Jeon, Sabrina Piontek, Matthias Grube, Johannes Ocker, Violetta Sessi, André Heinzig, Jens Trommer, Gyu-Tae Kim, Thomas Mikolajick, and Walter M. Weber. Reconfigurable Si nanowire nonvolatile transistors. Advanced Electronic Materials, 4(1), 2017.
- [58] Maik Simon, B. Liang, D. Fischer, M. Knaut, A. Tahn, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber. Top-down fabricated reconfigurable FET with two symmetric and high-current on-states. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 41(7):1110–1113, 2020.
- [59] Andreas Fuchsberger, Lukas Wind, Masiar Sistani, Raphael Behrle, Daniele Nazzari, Johannes Aberl, Enrique Prado Navarrete, Lada Vukŭsić, Moritz Brehm, Peter Schweizer, Lilian Vogl, Xavier Maeder, and Walter M. Weber. Reconfigurable fieldeffect transistor technology via heterogeneous integration of SiGe with crystalline al contacts. Advanced Electronic Materials, 9(6), 2023.
- [60] Larissa Kühberger. A germanium on silicon on insulator based reconfigurable transistor platform. 2023.
- [61] Jens Trommer, André Heinzig, Tim Baldauf, Thomas Mikolajick, Walter M. Weber, Michael Raitza, and Marcus Voelp. Reconfigurable nanowire transistors with multiple independent gates for efficient and programmable combinational circuits. pages 169– 174, 2016.
- [62] Raphael Böckle, Masiar Sistani, Martina Bažíková, Lukas Wind, Zahra Sadre-Momtaz, Martien I. den Hertog, Corban G. E. Murphey, James F. Cahoon, and Walter M. Weber. Reconfigurable complementary and combinational logic based on monolithic and single-crystalline Al-Si heterostructures. *Advanced Electronic Materials*, 9(1), 2022.

- [63] An Chen, X. Sharon Hu, Yier Jin, Michael Niemier, and Xunzhao Yin. Using emerging technologies for hardware security beyond PUFs. pages 1544–1549, 2016.
- [64] Alan Colli, Abbes Tahraoui, Andrea Fasoli, Jani M. Kivioja, William I. Milne, and Andrea C. Ferrari. Top-gated silicon nanowire transistors in a single fabrication step. ACS Nano, 3(6):1587–1593, 2009.
- [65] Raphael Böckle, Masiar Sistani, Boris Lipovec, Darius Pohl, Bernd Rellinghaus, Alois Lugstein, and Walter M. Weber. A top-down platform enabling Ge based reconfigurable transistors. Advanced Materials Technologies, 7(1):2100647, 2022.
- [66] C.A. Mead. Schottky barrier gate field effect transistor. Proceedings of the IEEE, 54 (2):307–308, 1966.
- [67] A. Schenk. Rigorous theory and simplified model of the band-to-band tunneling in silicon. Solid-State Electronics, 36(1):19–34, 1993.
- [68] Christian Schleich, Dominic Waldhor, Theresia Knobloch, Weifeng Zhou, Bernhard Stampfer, Jakob Michl, Michael Waltl, and Tibor Grasser. Single- versus multistep trap assisted tunneling currents-part I: Theory. *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 69(8):4479–4485, 2022.
- [69] Giulio Galderisi, Christoph Beyer, Thomas Mikolajick, and Jens Trommer. Insights into the temperature-dependent switching behavior of three-gated reconfigurable field-effect transistors. *physica status solidi* (a), 220(13), 2023.
- [70] B. Ghyselen, J.-M. Hartmann, T. Ernst, C. Aulnette, B. Osternaud, Y. Bogumilowicz, A. Abbadie, P. Besson, O. Rayssac, A. Tiberj, N. Daval, I. Cayrefourq, F. Fournel, H. Moriceau, C. Di Nardo, F. Andrieu, V. Paillard, M. Cabié, L. Vincent, E. Snoeck, F. Cristiano, A. Rocher, A. Ponchet, A. Claverie, P. Boucaud, M.-N. Semeria, D. Bensahel, N. Kernevez, and C. Mazure. Engineering strained silicon on insulator wafers with the Smart CutTM technology. *Solid-State Electronics*, 48(8): 1285–1296, 2004.
- [71] Manfred Reiche, C. Himcinschi, U. Gösele, S. Christiansen, S. Mantl, D. Buca, Q.T. Zhao, S. Feste, R. Loo, D. Nguyen, W. Buchholtz, A. Wei, M. Horstmann, D. Feijoo, and P. Storck. Strained silicon-on-insulator fabrication and characterization. *ECS Transactions*, 6(4):339–344, 2007.
- [72] Moritz Brehm, Francesco Montalenti, Martyna Grydlik, Guglielmo Vastola, Herbert Lichtenberger, Nina Hrauda, Matthew J. Beck, Thomas Fromherz, Friedrich Schäffler, Leo Miglio, and Günther Bauer. Key role of the wetting layer in revealing the hidden path of Ge/Si(001) Stranski-Krastanow growth onset. *Physical Review B*, 80(20), 2009.
- [73] Zhenping Wen, Tianjin Xiao, Hongwei Zhang, Yuming Qui, Deqin Yu, Junlong Kang, and Jingxun Fang. Ultrathin interfacial SiO₂ layer process research for high-k gate last gate stacks. In 2015 China Semiconductor Technology International Conference. IEEE, 2015.

- [74] S. Kral, C. Zeiner, M. Stöger-Pollach, E. Bertagnolli, M. I. den Hertog, M. Lopez-Haro, E. Robin, K. El Hajraoui, and A. Lugstein. Abrupt schottky junctions in Al/Ge nanowire heterostructures. *Nano Letters*, 15(7):4783–4787, 2015. PMID: 26052733.
- [75] Dieter K. Schroder. Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization. Wiley, 2005.
- [76] E.H. Rhoderick and R.H. Williams. *Metal-semiconductor Contacts*. Monographs in electrical and electronic engineering. Clarendon Press, 1988.
- [77] Adelmo Ortiz-Conde, Francisco J. García-Sánchez, Juan Muci, Alberto Terán Barrios, Juin J. Liou, and Ching-Sung Ho. Revisiting MOSFET threshold voltage extraction methods. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 53(1):90–104, 2013.
- [78] Somi Kim, Hochen Yoo, and Jaeyoung Choi. Effects of charge traps on hysteresis in organic field-effect transistors and their charge trap cause analysis through causal inference techniques. *Sensors*, 23(4):2265, 2023.
- [79] Martin Egginger, Siegfried Bauer, Reinhard Schwödiauer, Helmut Neugebauer, and Niyazi Serdar Sariciftci. Current versus gate voltage hysteresis in organic field effect transistors. *Monatshefte für Chemie - Chemical Monthly*, 140(7):735–750, 2009.
- [80] E. A. Lewis and E. A. Irene. The effect of surface orientation on silicon oxidation kinetics. Journal of The Electrochemical Society, 134(9):2332-2339, 1987.
- [81] M. Houssa, V. V. Afanas'ev, A. Stesmans, and M. M. Heyns. Variation in the fixed charge density of SiOx/ZrO2 gate dielectric stacks during postdeposition oxidation. *Applied Physics Letters*, 77(12):1885–1887, 2000.
- [82] S Chatterjee, S.K Samanta, H.D Banerjee, and C.K Maiti. Electrical properties of stacked gate dielectric (SiO2/ZrO2) deposited on strained sige layers. *Thin Solid Films*, 422(1–2):33–38, 2002.
- [83] Harry H. Hall, J. Bardeen, and G. L. Pearson. The effects of pressure and temperature on the resistance of p-n junctions in germanium. *Physical Review*, 84(1):129–132, 1951.
- [84] Charles S. Smith. Piezoresistance effect in germanium and silicon. Physical Review, 94(1):42–49, 1954.
- [85] B. M. Haugerud, L. A. Bosworth, and R. E. Belford. Mechanically induced strain enhancement of metal–oxide–semiconductor field effect transistors. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 94(6):4102–4107, 2003.
- [86] Keiji Ikeda, Yuuichi Kamimuta, Yoshihiko Moriyama, Mizuki Ono, Minoru Oda, Toshifumi Irisawa, and Tsutomu Tezuka. Strained germanium nanowire MOS-FETs. In 2014 7th International Silicon-Germanium Technology and Device Meeting (ISTDM). IEEE, 2014.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [87] M. V. Fischetti and S. E. Laux. Band structure, deformation potentials, and carrier mobility in strained Si, Ge, and SiGe alloys. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 80(4):2234– 2252, 1996.
- [88] O. Weber, T. Irisawa, T. Numata, M. Harada, N. Taoka, Y. Yamashita, T. Yamamoto, N. Sugiyama, M. Takenaka, and S. Takagi. Examination of additive mobility enhancements for uniaxial stress combined with biaxially strained Si, biaxially strained SiGe and Ge channel MOSFETs. In 2007 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting. IEEE, 2007.
- [89] Tibor Grasser. Stochastic charge trapping in oxides: From random telegraph noise to bias temperature instabilities. *Microelectronics Reliability*, 52(1):39–70, 2012.
- [90] M. Tao, D. Udeshi, S. Agarwal, E. Maldonado, and W.P. Kirk. Negative schottky barrier between titanium and n-type Si(001) for low-resistance ohmic contacts. *Solid-State Electronics*, 48(2):335–338, 2004.
- [91] So Jeong Park, Dae-Young Jeon, Violetta Sessi, Jens Trommer, André Heinzig, Thomas Mikolajick, Gyu-Tae Kim, and Walter M. Weber. Channel length-dependent operation of ambipolar schottky-barrier transistors on a single Si nanowire. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 12(39):43927-43932, 2020.
- [92] Lukas Wind, Raphael Boeckle, Masiar Sistani, Peter Schweizer, Xavier Maeder, Johann Michler, Corban G.E. Murphey, James Cahoon, and Walter M. Weber. Monolithic and single-crystalline aluminum-silicon heterostructures. ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, 14(22):26238–26244, 2022.
- [93] Walter M. Weber, Jens Trommer, Matthias Grube, André Heinzig, Markus Konig, and Thomas Mikolajick. Reconfigurable silicon nanowire devices and circuits: Opportunities and challenges. 2014.
- [94] Jens Trommer, André Heinzig, Stefan Slesazeck, Thomas Mikolajick, and Walter Michael Weber. Elementary aspects for circuit implementation of reconfigurable nanowire transistors. *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 35(1):141–143, 2014.
- [95] Shubham Rai, Ansh Rupani, Dennis Walter, Michael Raitza, André Heinzig, Tim Baldauf, Jens Trommer, Christian Mayr, Walter M. Weber, and Akash Kumar. A physical synthesis flow for early technology evaluation of silicon nanowire based reconfigurable FETs. 2018.